STUDIES OF ANAPLASMA MARGINALE THEILER IN

NYMPHAL DERMACENTOR ANDERSONI STILES

By

THEODORA NEIL YELLIN

Wilson College

Chambersburg, Pennsylvania

1969

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE May, 1986 Thesio 1986 Y 435s Cop.2

· · · ·



STUDIES OF ANAPLASMA MARGINALE THEILER IN

NYMPHAL DERMACENTOR ANDERSONI STILES

Thesis Approved:

can Adviser Thesis Dean of the Graduate College

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my appreciation to all the people who helped me during the course of my research and writing of this thesis. Special thanks go to my major adviser, Dr. Katherine M. Kocan, for her invaluable assistance throughout the duration of this research project. My sincere appreciation goes to my other committee members, Dr. S. A. Ewing, Dr. J. Carl Fox, and Dr. Jakie A. Hair, for their encouragement and thorough review of this thesis. I am indebted to Dr. Ronald W. McNew, Dr. Don Holbert, and Dr. P. Larry Claypool for their assistance with the statistical data for this project. I am also thankful to June Willis, Kathie Wickwire, Mark Morgan, and Wanda Edwards for their technical assistance; and to Dr. Selwyn J. Barron for his help in caring for the experimental animals. Finally, I am grateful to Charlene Fries for typing this manuscript, and to Suzanne Spears for her excellent diagrams that are presented in this thesis.

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my husband, David, whose love, moral support, and understanding made completion of this project possible. My mother, Julia, also deserves my deepest appreciation for her patience and encouragement.

Financial support for this study was provided by USDA-SEA, Animal Health Program, Grant Number 5-5-23874; and Oklahoma Agricultural Experimental Station Project No. 1669.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 1. | INTRODUCTION |
|------|---|
| | Bovine Anaplasmosis |
| | Ticks as Vectors of Disease |
| | <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> in Arthropods |
| | Morphology of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> in Ticks |
| | The Research Problem |
| 11. | MATERIALS AND METHODS |
| | Experimental Animals |
| | Laboratory Propagation and Infection of Ticks |
| | Tissue Collection and Electron Microscopy |
| | Typing and Measurement of Colonies and Statis- |
| | tical Analysis |
| | Experimental Design |
| | Study of Transferred Nymphal Ticks |
| | Study of Feeding Nymphal Ticks |
| | Study of Replete Nymphal Ticks |
| 111. | RESULTS |
| | Transfer of Feeding Nymphal Ticks From |
| | Infected to Susceptible Calves |
| | Light and Electron Microscopy |
| | Tick Transmission and Inoculation |
| | With Tick Gut Homogenates |
| | Statistical Analysis of Colony Density |
| | Feeding Nymphal Ticks |
| | Replete Nymphal Ticks |
| | Light Microscopy |
| | Colony Density and Distribution |
| 11/ | |
| | |
| ۷. | SUMMARY |

iv

LIST OF TABLES

`

| Table | | Page |
|-------|---|-------|
| 1. | Anaplasma Marginale Parasitemias in Donor Calf 386 During Tick Feeding | • 33 |
| 11. | Transmission of <u>Anaplasma Marginale</u> to Splenec- tomized Calves by Nymphal <u>Dermacentor Ander-</u> <u>soni</u> That Were Transferred to Susceptible Calves After Feeding for 1 to 6 Days on a Calf Infected With <u>A. Marginale</u> | . 35 |
| | Transmission of <u>Anaplasma</u> <u>Marginale</u> to Splenec- tomized Calves by Injection of Gut Homogen- ates From 50 Unfed, Adult <u>Dermacentor Ander-</u> <u>soni</u> That Were Allowed to Feed as Nymphs for 1 to 6 Days on a Calf Infected With <u>A</u> . <u>Mar-</u> <u>ginale</u> | . 36 |
| ١٧. | Mean Colony Density in Adult <u>Dermacentor Ander-</u> <u>soni</u> That Were Allowed to Feed as Nymphs for 1 to 6 Days on a Calf Infected With <u>Anaplasma</u> <u>Marginale</u> | . 38 |
| · V. | Analysis of Variance of the Number of Colonies Per O.1 mm ² Gut Tissue Examined From Adult <u>Dermacentor Andersoni</u> That Were Allowed to Feed as Nymphs for 1 to 6 Days on a Calf In- fected With <u>Anaplasma</u> <u>Marginale</u> | . 42 |
| ۷۱. | Mean Colony Density in Nymphal <u>Dermacentor</u> <u>Andersoni</u> That Were Replete for 5 to 25 Days After Feeding on a Calf Infected With <u>Anaplasma Marginale</u> | . 105 |
| VII. | Analysis of Variance of the Number of Colonies Per 0.1 mm ² Gut Tissue Examined From Nymphal <u>Dermacentor Andersoni</u> That Were Replete for 5 to 25 Days After Feeding on a Calf Infected With <u>Anaplasma</u> <u>Marginale</u> | . 108 |
| VIII. | Mean Colony Area in Nymphal <u>Dermacentor Ander-</u> <u>soni</u> That Were Replete for 5 to 25 Days After Feeding on a Calf Infected With <u>Anaplasma Mar-</u> <u>ginale</u> | . 110 |

v

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figu | re | Page |
|------|--|------|
| 1. | Experimental Design for Study of Transferred Nymphal Ticks. Experimental Study 1 | 19 |
| 2. | Experimental Design for Nymphal Transfer Studies. Experimental Study l. Transfer of Nymphs at Each Day of Feeding From Calf Infected With <u>Anaplasma Marginale</u> to Susceptible Calves | 21 |
| 3. | Experimental Design for Study of Feeding Nymphal Ticks. Experimental Study 2 | 23 |
| 4. | Experimental Design for Study of Replete Nymphal Ticks. Experimental Study 3 | 26 |
| 5. | Light Micrographs of Type 3 Colonies of <u>A</u> . <u>Marginale</u> in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of an Adult Female <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> From Transfer Day 6 | 30 |
| 6. | Electron Micrographs of a Type 3 Colony of <u>A</u> . <u>Margin-</u> <u>ale</u> in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of an Adult Fe- male <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> From Transfer Day 6 | 32 |
| 7. | Comparison of the Mean Colony Density (Number of Colo- nies Per 0.1 mm ² Gut Tissue Examined) From the Com- bined Groups of Male and Female D. <u>Andersoni</u> That Were Allowed to Feed as Nymphs for 1 to 6 Days on a Calf Infected With <u>A. Marginale</u> With the Average Prepatent Period Produced by Gut Homogenates Inject- ed Into Uninfected Calves | 40 |
| 8. | Nymphal <u>D. Andersoni</u> Ticks Collected on Each Day of Feeding Until Replete | 44 |
| 9. | Light Micrographs of Groups of Rickettsia-like Organ- isms, Believed to be Symbiotes, in Midgut Epithelial Cells of Feeding Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> | 46 |
| 10. | Electron Micrograph of Rickettsia-like Organisms Found in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of a Nymph That Fed for 4 Days on an Infected Calf | 48 |

Figure

| 11. | Light Micrographs of Colonies of <u>A</u> . <u>Marginale</u> (C) in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>An-</u> <u>dersoni</u> at 5 Days Post-Repletion | | • | • | • | • | • | 51 |
|-----|---|-----|---|---|---|---|---|----|
| 12. | Light Micrographs of Colonies of <u>A</u> . <u>Marginale</u> (C) in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>An-</u> <u>dersoni</u> at 10 Days Post-Repletion | | • | • | • | • | | 54 |
| 13. | Light Micrographs of Colonies of <u>A. Marginale</u> (C) Found in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D. Andersoni</u> at 15 Days Post-Repletion | | • | • | • | • | • | 56 |
| 14. | Light Micrographs of Colonies of <u>A. Marginale</u> (C) Found in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D. Andersoni</u> at 20 Days Post-Repletion | • • | • | • | • | | | 58 |
| 15. | Light Micrographs of Colonies of <u>A</u> . <u>Marginale</u> (C) Found in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 25 Days Post-Repletion | | • | • | • | • | • | 60 |
| 16. | Electron Micrographs of a Colony of <u>A. Marginale</u> in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D.</u> <u>Andersoni</u> at 5 Days Post-Repletion | • • | • | | • | • | • | 63 |
| 17. | Electron Micrographs of <u>A</u> . <u>Marginale</u> Organisms Within Colonies From Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 5 Days Post-Repletion | | • | • | | • | • | 65 |
| 18. | Electron Micrographs of Colonies of <u>A</u> . <u>Marginale</u> in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 5 Days Post-Repletion | • 1 | • | • | • | • | • | 67 |
| 19. | Electron Micrographs of Tail-like Appendages Found Associated With the Midgut Epithelial Cells in Nymphal <u>D. Andersoni</u> at 5 Days | | | | | | | |
| 20. | Electron Micrographs of Tail-like Appendages Found Associated With the Midgut Epithelial | • • | • | • | • | • | • | 70 |
| | Post-Repletion | • | • | • | • | • | • | 72 |
| 21. | Electron Micrographs of Colonies of <u>A. Marginale</u> in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 10 Days Post-Repletion | | • | • | • | | • | 74 |
| 22. | Electron Micrographs of <u>A</u> . <u>Marginale</u> Organisms Within Colonies From Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 10 Days Post-Repletion | • • | • | • | • | • | • | 76 |

Figure

.

•

| 23. | Electron Micrographs of Colonies of <u>A. Marginale</u> in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 10 Days Post-Repletion | 3 |
|-----|---|---|
| 24. | Electron Micrographs of Colonies of <u>A. Marginale</u> in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 15 Days Post-Repletion 80 |) |
| 25. | Electron Micrographs of <u>A</u> . <u>Marginale</u> Organisms Within Colonies From Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 15 Days Post-Repletion | 2 |
| 26. | Electron Micrographs of Colonies of <u>A</u> . <u>Marginale</u> in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 15 Days Post-Repletion | 5 |
| 27. | Electron Micrographs of a Colony of <u>A</u> . <u>Marginale</u> in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 20 Days Post-Repletion | 7 |
| 28. | Electron Micrographs of Colonies of <u>A. Marginale</u> in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D.</u> <u>Andersoni</u> at 20 Days Post-Repletion | Э |
| 29. | Electron Micrographs of A. <u>Marginale</u> Organisms Within Colonies From Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 20 Days Post-Repletion | 1 |
| 30. | Electron Micrographs of <u>A. Marginale</u> Organisms Within Colonies From Nymphal <u>D. Andersoni</u> at 20 Days Post-Repletion | 3 |
| 31. | Electron Micrographs of Colonies of <u>A. Marginale</u> in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 20 Days Post-Repletion | 5 |
| 32. | Electron Micrographs of <u>A</u> . <u>Marginale</u> Organisms Within Colonies From Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 20 Days Post-Repletion | 7 |
| 33. | Electron Micrographs of Colonies of <u>A. Marginale</u> in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 25 Days Post-Repletion | 9 |
| 34. | Electron Micrographs of a Colony of <u>A. Marginale</u> in the Midgut Epithelial Cells of Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 25 Days Post-Repletion | 2 |
| 35. | Electron Micrograph of <u>A</u> . <u>Marginale</u> Organisms Within a Colony From Nymphal <u>D</u> . <u>Andersoni</u> at 25 Days Post-Repletion | 4 |

Figure

| <u>3</u> 6. | Mean Colony Density (Number of Colonies Per 0.1 mm ² | |
|-------------|--|-----|
| | Were Replete for 5 to 25 Days After Feeding on a Calf Infected With <u>A. Marginale</u> | 107 |

Page

CHAPTER |

INTRODUCTION

Bovine Anaplasmosis

Anaplasmosis is a major disease of cattle that may cause severe anemia and death in the bovine host. Black-tailed deer may have inapparent or carrier infections, and thus serve as important reservoirs for this disease.¹ The disease is prevalent worldwide, especially in tropical and subtropical areas,^{2,3} and is a significant contributor to economic losses in the cattle industry. In the United States, anaplasmosis has been ranked as one of the most important diseases of cattle.⁴ The causative agent, <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> Theiler, was first observed by Smith and Kilborne who thought the inclusion body in the red blood cells of cattle was a stage in the life cycle of <u>Babesia bigemina</u>.⁵ Later, in 1910, this parasite was recognized as a separate disease-causing organism by Theiler.⁶

<u>A. marginale</u> is an obligate, intracellular parasite that is morphologically similar in bovine erythrocytes to other rickettsiae⁷ and is presently classified in the Order Rickettsiales, Family Anaplasmataceae.³ The genus <u>Anaplasma</u> contains four species, all infective for ruminants. <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> is the most pathogenic species for cattle, and <u>A. centrale</u> causes a mild disease in African cattle. <u>Anaplasma ovis</u> causes a mild infection in sheep and goats.⁷ A new species, <u>A. mesaeterum</u>, has recently been reported in sheep.⁸

The parasite in bovine erythrocytes is characterized by the presence of inclusion or marginal bodies at the periphery of the host erythrocyte;² the name 'marginale' refers to this location.⁹ The erythrocytic inclusion vacuole contains one to several initial bodies. ¹⁰ It has been suggested that these initial bodies resemble reticulated forms, which are a developmental stage of the parasite seen in ticks; ticks serve as invertebrate host and vector for the parasite. The organism contains both DNA and RNA and possesses a branching filamentous network in the cytoplasm.^{2,10,12} Each initial body is surrounded by a double membranous organismic envelope consisting of a thick outer membrane and a thin inner cell membrane. ^{10,13-15} The inclusion membrane of the vacuole is thought to originate from the plasmalemma of the host erythrocyte. ^{16,17} Small electron-dense particles have also been observed in association with initial bodies.¹⁰ Some organisms have tail-like inclusion appendages which are visible only after lysing infected erythrocytes. 10,18-23 These appendages appear in loop, comet, or dumbbell forms that display longitudinal and transverse periodicity. 10,18,21

A hypothesis for the developmental cycle of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> within the bovine erythrocyte has been proposed.²⁴ The initial body, which has been thought to be the infective unit, enters the erythrocyte by invagination of the plasma membrane and forms a membrane-bound vacuole.¹² The initial body then multiplies by binary fission to produce more initial bodies which eventually leave the cell by exocytosis to infect other erythrocyte.²⁵

Ticks as Vectors of Disease

Disease transmission by ticks was first demonstrated in 1893 by

Smith and Kilborne in their studies of the cause of Texas cattle fever.⁵ Since then, ticks have been recognized as both vectors and reservoirs of a variety of disease-causing organisms including rickettsiae, bacteria, spirochetes, viruses, and protozoa.^{26,27} Ticks appear to be better adapted than insects for the development of rickettsiae and viruses because rickettsiae and tick-borne viruses do not multiply in bloodsucking Diptera, whereas many dipteran-borne viruses are capable of development in ticks.²⁸ Ticks also make good reservoirs of these disease agents because the organism can remain dormant in the tick for long periods and sometimes can be transmitted to their offspring via the egg for a number of generations.²⁹

Tick-borne diseases affect human beings and many other animals and cause significant economic losses to the livestock industry throughout the world. The most important tick-transmitted blood parasites affecting cattle are <u>Cowdria ruminantium</u> (heartwater disease), <u>Babesia bovis</u> (babesiosis), <u>Theileria parva</u> (East Coast fever), and <u>Anaplasma margin-</u> ale (anaplasmosis).³⁰

Ticks have several characteristics that enable them to be good disease transmitters. They remain infectious with disease organisms over long periods of time due to their ability to overwinter and withstand prolonged starvation.²⁸ Ticks, especially argasids and three-host ixodids, frequently feed on more than one vertebrate host.^{26,27} Disease organisms can be passed from one instar to the next in the arthropod vector, known as transstadial transmission, thus making it possible for both immature and adult stages to transmit disease. Transovarial transmission, the transfer of disease organisms within the arthropod vector to its offspring via the egg, is also important.^{26,28} Finally, some disease

organisms can undergo cyclical changes as well as multiplication within the arthropod vector, a process known as cyclic propagation. 26

Ticks become infected with pathogens by feeding on the blood of an infected host.²⁹ Concentration of infectious organisms in the host's blood and an extended feeding time enhance the ability of ticks to acquire infection.^{28,29,31} The cutting mouthparts, or chelicerae, are used to penetrate the host's skin, and the heavily spined hypostome serves to anchor the tick while it feeds. A cementing substance is also secreted to aid in attachment. Ixodid ticks are slow feeders and remain attached for several days, thus allowing for long exposure to pathogenic organisms. Blood and tissue fluids are ingested and stored in the diverticulae of the midgut until uptake by digestive cells occurs. The feeding process is also aided by salivary secretions which inhibit blood coagulation in the feeding lesion and aid in the destruction of surrounding tissues.³²

The peritrophic membrane, which is a membrane that forms in the midgut region of many bloodsucking arthropods to surround ingested food, is only known to be present in one species of tick.³³ Because most ticks lack a peritrophic membrane, parasites are able to penetrate the gut cells readily.²⁸ Extensive pinocytotic activity, which is thought to occur during digestion, allows penetration into the gut cells where multiplication of the pathogen frequently takes place. Some pathogens may migrate to the hemocoel where they multiply in the hemolymph, a process demonstrated for rickettsiae, piroplasms, and spirochetes.²⁸ Hemocytes are thought to aid in the dissemination of parasites to the salivary glands, ovaries, and various other organs.^{29,31}

During the life cycle of ticks organs that harbor microorganisms, such as the midgut and Malpighian tubules, are gradually replaced, thus aiding in the survival of pathogens.^{28,29} Transstadial transmission is enhanced in this way because the process of metamorphosis primarily affects ectodermally derived tissues.²⁹ Salivary glands completely degenerate during molting, so that pathogens must reinvade this organ when it develops again.^{28,29}

Pathogens can be transmitted both mechanically and biologically by ticks. Mechanical transmission occurs when the vector transports parasites from host to host usually by mouthparts that have become contaminated with blood.³⁴ Argasids and many male ixodid ticks are good mechanical transmitters of disease because they are capable of feeding on numerous hosts.^{29,35} Biological transmission occurs when the tick serves a necessary function in the life cycle of the pathogen.³⁴

Transstadial and transovarial transmission, which are considered to be types of biological transmission, are the most common routes for passage of disease agents from one tick stage to another.³⁵ These modes of transmission, while common in ticks, are rare in bloodsucking insects.²⁸ <u>Rickettsia rickettsii</u> and other spotted fever group rickettsiae can be passed transovarially to 100% of the offspring if ticks feed during the peak of infection.³⁶⁻³⁸ Both transstadial and transovarial transmission can be important for the maintenance of certain rickettsiae and other pathogens in nature.^{31,37,39} Sexual transmission by infected male ticks to noninfected females occurs occasionally with viruses⁴⁰ and rickettsiae.^{41,42} Most infectious agents transmitted by ticks cause disease in the vertebrate host and appear to be nonpathogenic to ticks.³⁹ Symbiotic rickettsiae have also been reported in many species of ticks and are

passed transovarially from one generation of ticks to another. They have not been associated with any known disease in vertebrates. 28

The mechanism of infection of vertebrates with organisms transmitted from ticks may be varied. Transmission by salivary secretions during the feeding process is the most common form of transmission, 27-29 and <u>Babesia</u> and <u>Theileria</u> are transmitted in this manner.²⁸ Fecal contamination of the bite wound is also an effective mechanism, especially for the transmission of rickettsiae. 27,29,43,44 Feces containing Coxiella burneti can remain infective for over a year, thus increasing the possibility of transmission.⁴³ Regurgitation of gut contents is thought to occur with the transmission of Cowdria ruminantium because this parasite has not been found to pass into the hemocoel of the tick. 27,35,44 Some pathogens, such as spirochetes and viruses may be transmitted by contamination of the bite by coxal fluid excreted during the process of feeding by argasid ticks. 29,45 Contact of body fluids from crushed ticks with abraded skin or the accidental ingestion of an infected tick may likewise contribute to transmission;^{28,44,46} this is known to occur with <u>Rickettsia</u> rickettsii. 44,46

Transmission of disease organisms may be affected by changes in temperature. Low ambient temperatures can inhibit the transmission of <u>Babe-</u> <u>sia</u> to cattle. ^{47,48} Placement of ticks at elevated temperatures experimentally has been shown to influence the rate of salivary gland infection with <u>Theileria parva</u> as well as to stimulate the development of infective stages of this parasite. ^{49,50} Infective stages of <u>Theileria annulata</u> and <u>Babesia bovis</u> in the salivary glands of ticks can also be produced by incubation of unfed ticks at 37 C.^{51,52} Avirulent <u>Rickettsia rickettsii</u>

can be reactivated, i.e., stimulated to become virulent, by incubation at 37 C.

The processes of tick feeding and molting may also influence the transmission of disease agents. Development of mature infective forms of <u>Theileria parva</u> in salivary glands has been shown to be synchronized with the feeding process of the tick, with mature infective stages being most numerous from 4 to 5 days after attachment.⁵⁵ Infective forms of <u>Babesia bigemina</u> have been demonstrated to develop only in prefed ticks.⁵⁶ Increased virulence of <u>R</u>. <u>rickettsii</u> is also stimulated by tick feeding.⁵⁴ The development in the gut of stages of <u>Theileria</u> capable of invading the salivary glands has been demonstrated to be coordinated with the process of tick molting.⁵⁷ The virulence of <u>R</u>. <u>rickettsii</u> has been shown to decrease immediately after molting, suggesting that molting hormones play a role in modifying virulence.^{29,54,58}

Anaplasma marginale in Arthropods

Various arthropods have been shown in field and laboratory studies to be possible vectors of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u>. Transmission by these vectors can occur by either mechanical or biological means.

Mechanical transfer is an important mechanism of transmission of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u>. Mechanical transmission of this disease agent can occur via contaminated surgical instruments, such as dehorners and syringe needles.⁵⁹ This disease organism is also frequently spread by the contaminated mouthparts of hematophagous arthropods. Horseflies (<u>Tabanus</u> sp.), considered to be the major insects to vector anaplasmosis,⁶⁰⁻⁶² have been shown under experimental conditions to be capable of transmitting infection for up to two hours after feeding on an infected animal, and

at times they appear to be the primary vectors of this disease.⁶¹ Stableflies (<u>Stomoxys</u> sp.),⁶³ mosquitoes (primarily <u>Psorophora</u> sp.),^{60,64} and deerflies (<u>Chrysops</u> sp.) have also been implicated as mechanical vectors.⁶⁵ Only female horseflies, deerflies, and mosquitoes feed on blood, and therefore only females are capable of mechanical transmission. However, male and female stableflies are bloodfeeders, and thus both are capable of mechanical transmission.⁴⁶

Numerous species of ixodid ticks have been demonstrated experimentally to be capable to biological transmission of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u>, and ticks appear to be the only proven biological vectors.^{1,59,66,67} Because both male and female ticks are bloodfeeders, either sex can transmit infection.⁶⁸ Successful transfer of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> by male ticks suggests that males, with their capability of feeding on multiple hosts, may play an important role in transmission of this pathogen under natural conditions.^{69,70} <u>Dermacentor andersoni</u> and <u>D</u>. <u>occidentalis</u> have been shown to transmit anaplasmosis in both laboratory and field studies, and are considered to be the most important vectors of this disease in the western United States.^{67,69-73} <u>Dermacentor occidentalis</u> is recognized to be important in transferring infections from black-tailed deer to cattle.⁷⁴ Other vectors in the United States include <u>D</u>. <u>variabilis</u> and <u>D</u>. <u>albipictus</u>.^{1,69,75} In tropical and subtropical regions, <u>Boophilus annulatus</u> and <u>B</u>. <u>microplus</u> are also important vectors.^{2,76}

Transstadial transmission of <u>A. marginale</u> by ticks, including <u>Derma-</u> <u>centor</u> sp., has been demonstrated in several investigations.^{69,70,75,77-79} Inoculation of susceptible animals with a homogenate of guts from adult ticks infected as nymphs has also produced infections.^{78,79} Successful

transovarial transmission was described in one instance,⁸⁰ but could not be duplicated by other researchers.^{69,70,79}

Inoculation studies have shown that transmission of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> by ticks can be influenced by temperature or by the process of feeding. Gut homogenates collected from infected ticks that had been incubated at 37 C or from ticks fed for a period of 6 days prior to gut removal produced shorter prepatent periods when inoculated into susceptible calves than those from unfed adult ticks.⁷⁹ Incubation of ticks for 2.5 days at 37 C and subsequent inoculation of their gut homogenates into susceptible animals has also been shown to produce shorter prepatent periods.⁸¹ Both feeding and incubation stimulate an increase in tick body temperatures which most likely cause changes in metabolic processes. Thus, the development of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> within the tick may be influenced by an increase in its own metabolism or that of the tick due to elevated temperatures.⁷⁹

The level of parasitemia of donor cattle has been shown to influence <u>A. marginale</u> transmission. Gut homogenates from ticks fed on calves with high parasitemias resulted in shorter prepatent periods when inoculated into susceptible animals than comparable homogenates from ticks fed on calves with low parasitemias.⁸² Also, transmission by ticks fed on a carrier animal with an undetectable parasitemia resulted in long prepatent periods.⁷⁹

To detect the presence of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u>, the fluorescent-antibody (FA) technique has been used. <u>Anaplasma marginale</u>, including forms with tail-like appendages, has been found in smears of the gut contents and excreta of adult ticks.⁸³ Organisms have also been observed in the gut contents and Malpighian tubules of nymphs for short periods after detachment.^{84,85} Recently, antibody fluorescent objects were

observed intissue sections of gut and salivary glands from feeding adult ticks 78 and in the hemocytes of incubated and feeding adults 86 suggesting the presence of <u>A. marginale</u>. Fluorescence was also demonstrated in gut tissue from incubated adult ticks that were known to harbor colonies of <u>A. marginale</u>. 87

Other labeled antibody studies have been used to identify the presence of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in <u>Dermacentor</u> species. The peroxidase-antiperoxidase (PAP) technique has been employed to label organisms within colonies from the gut tissues of incubated adult ticks.⁸⁸ Ferritin-labeled antibody has also been used to demonstrate the presence of organisms in gut homogenates from feeding adult ticks.⁸⁹

Morphology of Anaplasma marginale in Ticks

The ultrastructure of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> has been described in midgut epithelial cells of adult <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> infected as nymphs, and in replete nymphal ticks. Individual organisms similar to those in infected bovine erythrocytes were observed in gut tissues of replete nymphs, feeding adult ticks, and unfed, unincubated adult ticks.⁹⁰ Colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u>, in which organisms were enclosed by a limiting membrane, have been demonstrated in unfed, incubated adult <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> and the morphologic characteristics of these colonies described.⁹¹ Small electron-dense particles were observed to be associated with individual organisms within colonies.⁹⁰ Incubation of unfed adult ticks at 37 C was found to maximize colony development.^{90,92} Permitting ticks to feed on infected calves with high parasitemias also produced larger numbers of colonies than when ticks fed on calves with few parasites in the peripheral blood.⁸² The identity of organisms within colonies has been verified by fluores-

cent-antibody (FA)⁸⁷ and peroxidase-antiperoxidase (PAP) techniques.⁸⁸ <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> has not been observed in salivary glands by electron microscopy,⁹⁰ but salivary gland homogenates have been shown to produce infections when inoculated into susceptible cattle.⁷⁸

Colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> have been described in <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u>^{90,91} and in <u>Rhipicephalus simus</u>.⁹³ The colonies were most commonly observed adjacent to the basement membrane in midgut epithelial cells. Five morphologic types categorized at the light microscopy level appear to represent stages in a developmental sequence. Type 1 colonies were round with densely packed organisms and contained little empty space. Type 2 colonies were similar except that an open area or halo separated the compact group of organisms from the colony's limiting membrane. In type 3 colonies the organisms were arranged in clumps with open spaces between. Individual organisms were difficult to distinguish in these colonies using light microscopy. The type 4 colonies contained many individual organisms. The colony shape was often irregular and the size frequently much larger than types 1, 2, or 3. Finally, type 5 colonies contained fewer but larger individual organisms than type 4 and more empty space was present; the colony shape was also frequently irregular.⁹¹

Different forms of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> have been observed within colonies by electron microscopy: electron-dense forms, reticulated forms, pleomorphic reticulated forms, and small particles. These forms were similar in some respects to stages described in the developmental cycle of <u>Chlamydia</u>. Electron-dense forms were present in type 1 and type 2 colonies. The type 3 colony contained both electron-dense and reticulated forms. Type 4 and type 5 colonies contained only reticulated forms. A developmental sequence from electron-dense to reticulated forms has been

suggested. Pleomorphic reticulated forms were only present in type 5 colonies, and small particles were observed in colony types 3, 4, and 5.⁹¹

The different morphologic forms of <u>A</u>. marginale observed in colonies from adult ticks appear to resemble developmental stages of <u>Chlamy-</u> <u>dia</u>. In the chlamydial life cycle a small electron-dense elementary body which is the infective stage enters the cell and reorganizes through an intermediate dispersing form into a larger reticulated body. Reticulated bodies are noninfective and divide by binary fission. Reorganization of reticulated bodies into elementary bodies takes place through intermediate condensing forms. Chlamydiae also form membrane-bound colonies⁹⁴ similar to those of <u>A</u>. marginale. However, it is not known at present whether the morphologic forms found in chlamydiae and those seen in <u>A</u>. marginale are related.

Determining the number of colonies of <u>A</u>. marginale per unit area of gut tissue is useful for comparing the gut tissues from different groups of ticks. The mean colony density, which is the number of colonies per 0.1 mm^2 gut tissue examined, was described for unfed, incubated <u>D</u>. andersoni adults. Incubation at 37 C for 2.5 days produced the highest mean colony density. Although all colony types were present, the type 3 colony was the most abundant.⁹² In <u>Rhipicephalus simus</u> adults, the colony density was higher for unfed, unincubated ticks than in unfed, incubated or prefed ticks; this was different from the results found for <u>D</u>. andersoni.⁹³

The Research Problem

Although <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> has been under investigation for many years, the life cycle of this organism in the bovine host and in tick vectors

has yet to be described fully. Further knowledge of the developmental cycle of <u>A</u>. marginale would aid in attempts to control this important disease organism. The purpose of the present study was to determine the time when feeding nymphal <u>D</u>. andersoni become infected with <u>A</u>. marginale and also to study the development of colonies of <u>A</u>. marginale in feeding and replete nymphal ticks that had fed on an infected calf.

CHAPTER II

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental Animals

Ten splenectomized dairy calves (4, 9 to 10 months old, and 6, 2 to 3 months old), that tested negative with the anaplasmosis complementfixation (CF) test^a, were used for the present study. One donor calf was infected with the Virginia isolate of Anaplasma marginale by adult feeding Dermacentor andersoni that acquired infection as nymphs. When the donor calf developed a parasitemia of 3 to 5 percent, it was used as a source of infection for the feeding of nymphal D. andersoni. The remaining 9 calves were used for transfer, animal inoculation, and control studies. All calves were tested twice each week for infections with A. marginale by examination of Wright's-stained blood smears and by measurement of packed cell volume (PCV). Once marginal bodies were observed in the red blood cells calves were monitored daily. Infected animals were treated with 11 mg of oxytetracycline/kg of body weight once the parasitemia levels began to decrease, but none were treated while ticks were feeding. Calves that did not become infected were challenged exposed with infected blood from a known carrier cow between 120 and 140 days after tick feeding. During tick feeding, animals were confined to individual stalls equipped with head stanchions. The stalls were located in a building maintained at a temperature of 25 C.

Laboratory Propagation and Infection of Ticks

<u>Dermacentor andersoni</u> nymphs used in these experiments were raised by the Entomology Tick Laboratory of Oklahoma State University.⁹⁵ Larval ticks were fed on rabbits to facilitate development to the nymphal stage. Approximately 1300 nymphs were placed in orthopedic stockinettes glued to the sides of a calf infected with <u>A. marginale</u> when the parasitemia level was 3 to 5%. Replete nymphs were collected and stored in a humidity chamber until used for experiments. The humidity chamber was maintained at 90 to 98% relative humidity at 25 C with a 14 hour photophase period.

Tissue Collection and Electron Microscopy

Gut homogenates consisting of 50 unfed, incubated adult ticks from each transfer group were prepared. The gut tissues were dissected from each tick, pooled in RPMI 1640^b medium, and placed in a ground glass tissue homogenizer to be homogenized for inoculation.

Gut tissues from the feeding and replete nymphs and adults were collected and processed for electron microscopy. Gut tissue was dissected free of the body cavity and fixed immediately in chilled 2.0% glutaraldehyde buffered with 0.27 M sodium cacodylate and post-fixed in 2.0% osmium tetroxide, also buffered with 0.27 M cacodylate. The fixed tissue was washed several times in the buffer, dehydrated with a graded series of ethanols (50, 70, 90, 95, and 100%), and infiltrated with Dow Epoxy Resin 736 (DER) utilizing propylene oxide as the intermediate solvent. Thick (1.5 µm) and thin (silver-reflective) sections of embedded tissue were cut with an ultramicrotome.^C Thick sections were stained with

Mallory's stain⁹⁶ and thin sections were stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate.⁹⁷ Thin sections were prepared with a diamond knife,^d collected on 300 mesh copper grids, and examined and photographed in an electron microscope^e operated at 60 kilovolts.

Typing and Measurement of Colonies and Statistical Analysis

Thick sections of gut tissue were examined by light microscopy for the presence of colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u>. The number of colonies per unit area of gut tissue examined was determined. Colony areas were computed from measurements of the width and length of each colony that were measured with a calibrated ocular micrometer. Colonies in adult ticks were assigned a type number (1 to 5) on the basis of morphologic characteristics as described by Kocan et al.⁹¹ The data were analyzed statistically.

Experimental Design

Study of Transferred Nymphal Ticks

Approximately 600 unfed nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> were placed in an orthopedic stockinette attached to the donor calf infected with <u>A</u>. <u>margin-</u> <u>ale</u>. Nymphs that had not attached by 48 hours were removed and discarded. At each day of feeding, approximately 75 attached nymphs were removed from the infected calf and transferred to an uninfected (CF negative) calf and permitted to finish feeding. A separate stockinette for each transfer day (6 days altogether) was provided on uninfected calves. When nymphs had fed to repletion, they were collected and stored in a humidity chamber and allowed to molt to the adult stage. At one month post-molting, the adults were used for histologic examination and animal inoculation.

The adult ticks were incubated for 2.5 days at 37 C to maximize colony development.⁹⁰ Gut tissues were dissected from 10 male and 10 female ticks for each day that nymphal transfers were made; the tissues were processed for electron microscopy as described previously. Gut homogenates were prepared from 50 adult ticks representing each of the six transfer days and material representing each day was inoculated into one of six susceptible calves. The calves were monitored for patent infections as described previously (Figures 1 and 2).

Study of Feeding Nymphal Ticks

Approximately 300 unfed nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> were placed in an orthopedic stockinette attached to the donor calf infected with <u>A</u>. <u>margin-</u> <u>ale</u>. Unattached ticks were removed after 48 hours. Ten nymphs were removed from the calf on each day of feeding, and unfed nymphs and replete nymphs from the sixth day of feeding were also collected. Control tissues from nymphs that fed on an uninfected calf were likewise collected on each day of feeding. Gut tissues were dissected from each tick and processed individually for electron microscopy. The gut tissue from each tick was sectioned and examined by light microscopy (Figure 3).

Study of Replete Nymphal Ticks

Approximately 400 unfed nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> were placed in an orthopedic stockinette attached to the donor calf infected with <u>A</u>. <u>margin-</u> ale. Unattached ticks were removed after 48 hours. The nymphs were

Figure 1. Experimental design for study of transferred

nymphal ticks. Experimental Study 1.



Figure 2. Experimental design for nymphal transfer studies. Experimental Study 1. Transfer of nymphs at each day of feeding from calf infected with <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> to susceptible calves.



Gut homogenates made from 50 unfed adults and injected into each of 6 susceptible calves.

Figure 3. Experimental design for study of feeding nymphal ticks. Experimental Study 2.



allowed to feed to repletion and were collected from the calf and maintained in a humidity chamber. At five day intervals (5 to 25 days postrepletion, a total of 5 groups) ten ticks were selected at random from among the replete nymphs for histologic examination. Control tissues from nymphs that fed on an uninfected calf were also collected for each of the 5 post-repletion days. The gut tissues were dissected from each tick and processed individually for electron microscopy. The gut tissues were sectioned and examined by light and electron microscopy as described previously (Figure 4).

Figure 4. Experimental design for study of replete

•

nymphal ticks. Experimental Study 3.


NOTES

^aCF test done by the Oklahoma Animal Disease Diagnostic Laboratory, Stillwater, Oklahoma.

^bGibco Laboratories, Grand Island, New York.

^cSorvall MT-5000, Sorvall Inc., Newton, Connecticut.

^d DuPont Diamond Knife, DuPont Instruments, Wilmington, Delaware.

^ePhilips EM-200, Philips Electronic Instruments, Mount Vernon, New York.

CHAPTER 111

RESULTS

Transfer of Feeding Nymphal Ticks From

Light and Electron Microscopy

Colonies of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> were observed in cross-sections of gut tissue from one month old adult <u>Dermacentor andersoni</u> that fed for 3 to 6 days as nymphs on an infected calf. Colonies of <u>Anaplasma</u> organisms were similar to those previously described in adult ticks⁹¹ and consisted of organisms surrounded by a limiting membrane (Figures 5a and b). All five morphologic types (1 to 5) were observed with light microscopy in Mallory's stained gut tissue. However, most colonies observed (89%) were type 3 colonies (Figures 5 and 6).

An electron micrograph of a type 3 colony (Figure 6a) that was observed in gut tissue from transfer day 6 contained aggregates of organisms. Forms of <u>A. marginale</u> found in type 3 colonies included electrondense forms, reticulated forms, and small particles (Figure 6b).

Tick Transmission and Inoculation

With Tick Gut Homogenates

Parasitemia of Donor Calf During Tick Feeding. The <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> parasitemias of the donor calf during tick feeding are listed in Table I. Figure 5. Light micrographs of type 3 colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in the midgut epithelial cells of an adult female <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> from transfer day 6. The colonies (C) contain individual organisms surrounded by a limiting membrane. (a) x 1900; (b) x 1900.



Figure 6. Electron micrographs of a type 3 colony of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in the midgut epithelial cells of an adult female <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> from transfer day 6.

- (a) Aggregates of organisms are seen surround-ed by a limiting membrane (LM); x 9600.
- (b) Forms of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> include electrondense forms (EF), reticulated forms (RF), and small particles (P); x 20,600.



TABLE I

ANAPLASMA MARGINALE PARASITEMIAS IN DONOR CALF 386 DURING TICK FEEDING

| | Day of Tick Feeding | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------------------|---------------------|-----|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 |
| Percent Parasi- temia | 4.4 | 9.8 | 15.8 | 27.2 | 37.8 | 48.2 | 45.6 | 26.4 | 26.4 |

~

The highest parasitemias of the donor calf coincided with the last two days of nymphal feeding (days 5 and 6).

<u>Transmission of Anaplasma marginale to Susceptible Transfer Calves</u> <u>by Feeding Ticks</u>. The susceptible calf on which the transfer nymphs 5 and 6 completed feeding developed anaplasmosis after 153 days (Table II). The calf to which ticks were transferred after feeding 1 through 4 days on an infected calf did not develop anaplasmosis. This calf was challenged exposed with infected blood 120 days after tick feeding and proved to be susceptible.

<u>Transmission of Anaplasma marginale to Susceptible Calves by Injec-</u> <u>tion of Tick Gut Homogenates</u>. Gut homogenates made from adult <u>D</u>. <u>ander-</u> <u>soni</u> that were allowed to feed on an infected calf for 2 to 6 days as nymphs produced anaplasmosis when inoculated into susceptible calves (Table III). Shortest prepatent periods resulted from inoculation of homogenates from adult ticks transferred after 5 and 6 days of feeding as nymphs on an infected calf. Transfer day 6 inoculum produced an infection with the shortest prepatent period of 23 days, which was 10 to 15 days shorter than the other prepatent periods observed. One exception was transfer day 4 inoculum that produced an infection with a prepatent period of 63 days. With the exception of transfer day 4, the prepatent periods decreased from transfer day 2 to day 6. Peak parasitemias observed in inoculated calves varied, and did not appear to be related to the number of days of nymphal feeding.

Statistical Analysis of Colony Density

Mean colony densities (number of colonies per 0.1 mm² gut tissue

TABLE 11

TRANSMISSION OF ANAPLASMA MARGINALE TO SPLENECTOMIZED CALVES BY NYMPHAL DERMACENTOR ANDERSONI THAT WERE TRANSFERRED TO SUSCEPTIBLE CALVES AFTER FEEDING FOR 1 TO 6 DAYS ON A CALF INFECTED WITH A. MARGINALE

| | | Appearance of | Anaplasmosis in Calves |
|------------------|----------|---------------|------------------------|
| | | Prepatent | Peak |
| Calf | Transfer | Period | Parasitemia |
| No. | Days | (Days) | (Percent) |
| 394 [*] | 1-4 | | |
| 392 | 5-6 | 153 | 15.2 |
| | | | |

 * Calf subsequently challenged exposed and found to be susceptible.

TABLE III

TRANSMISSION OF ANAPLASMA MARGINALE TO SPLENECTOMIZED CALVES BY INJECTION OF GUT HOMOGENATES FROM 50 UNFED, ADULT DERMACENTOR ANDERSONI THAT WERE ALLOWED TO FEED AS NYMPHS FOR 1 TO 6 DAYS ON A CALF INFECTED WITH A. MARGINALE

| Transfer Day | Calf No. | Appearance of Prepatent Period (Days) | Anaplasmosis in Calves Peak Parasitemia (Percent) |
|-----------------|-------------------|--|--|
| TI | RH-9 [*] | | |
| Τ2 | RH-10 | 38 | 18.0 |
| Т3 | RH-11 | 37 | 41.4 |
| т4 | RH-12 | 63 | 44.6 |
| Т5 | RH-13 | 34 | 50.0 |
| т6 | 409 | 23 | 43.8 |
| | | | |

 $^{\star} {\tt Calf}$ subsequently challenged exposed and found to be susceptible.

examined) in midgut epithelial cells of adult ticks infected as nymphs are listed in Table IV. Colonies were first seen in tissue sections of gut from transfer day 3 ticks. Mean colony densities for the combined groups of males and females increased from 0.01 for transfer day 3 to 0.73 for day 6. In transfer day 3 and 4 gut tissue, males had a higher mean colony density; but in transfer day 5 and 6 gut tissue, females had a higher mean colony density. The high mean colony density in females from transfer day 6 was due to a large number of colonies found in one individual. Colonies were seen in 13 of 20 gut cross-sections examined for transfer day 5 and were present in 17 of 20 for day 6. However, only one colony was seen in gut tissue from transfer day 3 ticks and only 6 of 20 individual ticks contained colonies from transfer day 4. The value for the standard error of the mean (SEM) was higher for female ticks in transfer day 6 than for the other transfer day groups.

A graph of the mean colony densities for the combined tick groups (males and females) along with the average prepatent periods produced by injection of gut homogenates from ticks from each transfer day into susceptible calves is displayed in Figure 7. The mean colony density increased as the nymphs fed for longer periods on an infected calf. The transfer day 6 group had the highest mean colony density. The prepatent periods decreased as the colony densities increased except for transfer day 4 which exhibited an unusually long prepatent period. The shortest prepatent period was exhibited by ticks removed on day 6 as did the highest mean colony density. Although a calf inoculated with a gut homogenate from transfer day 2 ticks developed anaplasmosis, no colonies of \underline{A} .

TABLE IV

MEAN COLONY DENSITY^{*} IN ADULT <u>DERMACENTOR</u> <u>ANDERSONI</u> THAT WERE ALLOWED TO FEED AS NYMPHS FOR 1 TO 6 DAYS ON A CALF INFECTED WITH <u>ANAPLASMA</u> <u>MARGINALE</u>

| Transfer Day | Sex | No. of Ticks Per Group | Mean Colony Density | Range | SEM |
|-----------------|----------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------------|--|--------------|
| ΤI | Male Female Combined | 10 <u>10</u> 20 | 0 0 0 | | |
| Τ2 | Male Female Combined | 10 10 20 | 0 0 0 | | |
| Т3 | Male Female Combined | 10 10 20 | 0.01 0 0.01 | 0.00-0.13 | 0.01 |
| Т4 | Male Female Combined | 10 10 20 | 0.12 0.06 0.09 | 0.00-0.60 0.00-0.47 0.00-0.60 | 0.07 0.05 |
| Т5 | Male Female Combined | 10 10 20 | 0.13 0.26 0.20 | 0.00-0.63 <u>0.00-0.95</u> 0.00-0.95 | 0.06 0.09 |
| т6 | Male Female Combined | 10 10 20 | 0.29 <u>1.17</u> 0.73 | 0.00-0.86 0.00-5.83 0.00-5.83 | 0.09 0.54 |

* Mean colony density (number of colonies per 0.1 mm² gut tissue examined). Figure 7. Comparison of the mean colony density (number of colonies per 0.1 mm² gut tissue examined) from the combined groups of male and female <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> that were allowed to feed as nymphs for 1 to 6 days on a calf infected with <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> with the average prepatent period produced by

gut homogenates injected into uninfected calves.



The analysis of variance table of the mean colony densities for transferred nymphal ticks is depicted in Table V. The interaction between sex and transfer day was not significant. Hence, the difference in mean colony densities between sexes was not significant. However, the difference in mean colony densities among transfer days was found to be statistically significant (P < 0.05). Mean colony densities increased with longer feeding time to 0.73 by day 6. In a pairwise comparison of the mean differences, the mean colony density for transfer day 6 was significantly higher (P < 0.01) than the colony densities for days 3, 4, and 5; but the means for days 3, 4, and 5 did not differ significantly from each other.

Feeding Nymphal Ticks

The increasing size of nymphal ticks on each day of feeding is illustrated in Figure 8. Colonies of <u>A. marginale</u> were not observed in the cross-sections of gut tissue from infected or control nymphal ticks on days 1 to 6 of feeding. However, groups of rickettsia-like organisms, believed to be symbiotes, were seen in approximately half of the crosssections from day 3 through day 6 of feeding, as well as in nymphs that were replete on day 6 (Figure 9a). Similar aggregates of organisms were seen in control tissues from feeding nymphs (Figure 9b). Electron microscopy confirmed the rickettsial nature of the organisms (Figure 10). The large organisms had two cell membranes surrounding a filamentous cytoplasm that contained dense granular material.

TABLE V

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF THE NUMBER OF COLONIES PER 0.1 MM² GUT TISSUE EXAMINED FROM ADULT DERMA-<u>CENTOR ANDERSONI</u> THAT WERE ALLOWED TO FEED AS NYMPHS FOR 1 TO 6 DAYS ON A CALF INFECTED WITH <u>ANAPLASMA MARGINALE</u>

| DF | Sum of Squares | [•] Mean Square | F | P Value |
|----|-------------------------------|--|--|---|
| 79 | 0.39 | | | |
| 3 | 0.06 | 0.020 | 5.3 | 0.003 |
| 1 | 0.01 | 0.010 | 2.8 | 0.099 |
| 3 | 0.03 | 0.010 | 2.4 | 0.073 |
| 72 | 0.29 | 0.004 | | |
| | DF 79 3 1 3 72 | Sum of Squares 79 0.39 3 0.06 1 0.01 3 0.03 72 0.29 | Sum of DF Mean Squares 79 0.39 3 0.06 0.020 1 0.01 0.010 3 0.03 0.010 72 0.29 0.004 | Sum of Squares Mean Square F 79 0.39 3 0.06 0.020 5.3 1 0.01 0.010 2.8 3 0.03 0.010 2.4 72 0.29 0.004 |

Figure 8. Nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> ticks collected on each day of feeding until replete. Ticks illustrated are the unfed nymph (U), nymphs from day 1 through day 6 of feeding (1-6), and an adult male tick (A) recently molted from the nymphal stage; x 2



- Figure 9. Light micrographs of groups of rickettsia-like organisms, believed to be symbiotes, in midgut epithelial cells of feeding nymphal <u>D. ander-</u> <u>soni</u>.
 - (a) Aggregates of organisms (R) are seen in a nymph that became replete on the 6th day after feeding on an infected calf; x 1900.
 - (b) Aggregates of organisms (R) are seen in a nymph that fed for 3 days on an uninfected calf; x 1800.



Figure 10. Electron micrograph of rickettsia-like organisms found in the midgut epithelial cells of a nymph that fed for 4 days on an infected calf. The organisms have filamentous cytoplasm surrounded by two cell membranes (M). x 66,600.



Replete Nymphal Ticks

Light Microscopy

Colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> were seen in cross-sections of gut tissue from nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 5 to 25 days post-repletion using light microscopy. No colonies were observed in sections of associated control tissues collected at the same times. Most colonies were located adjacent to the basement membrane of the midgut epithelial cells and occasionally in the Malpighian tubules; some were also observed in the interior of the epithelial cells.

The morphology of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> colonies in nymphal ticks was different from that for colonies described in the gut of adults. The colonies ranged from circular to oblong and varied in size within each repletion group. Aggregates of small colonies that included as many as 20 colonies were occasionally observed in all groups of replete nymphs. There appeared to be a decrease in the size of the <u>Anaplasma</u> organisms from 5 to 20 days post-repletion. The shape of organisms within colonies also changed from round to rod-shaped during this period. The individual organisms occurred separately, and the open spaces between organisms appeared to increase with increasing repletion time.

At 5 days post-repletion (Figures 11a-d), colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> were first observed and contained large, separated organisms. The individual organisms within colonies were either approximately uniform in size (Figures 11a and b) or varied somewhat in size (Figures 11c and d). Organisms were generally close to one another and evenly dispersed within the colony. Unusually large organisms were occasionally seen within colonies near the margin of the limiting membrane (Figure 11a).

Figure 11. Light micrographs of colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> (C) in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>an-</u> <u>dersoni</u> at 5 days post-repletion. Colonies contain large, separated organisms.

- (a) and (b) Organisms are approximately uniform
 in size. An unusually large organism (A) is
 seen near the margin of a colony. (a) x 2000;
 (b) x 1800.
- (c) and (d) Organisms vary somewhat in size.(c) x 1900; (d) x 1800.



Colonies seen at 10 days post-repletion (Figures 12a-d) were similar to those seen in the 5 day repletion group. The colonies were either located within the interior of the epithelial cells (Figures 12a and b) or near the basement membrane (Figure 12c), and aggregates of small colonies were sometimes seen (Figure 12d). Also, some unusually large organisms were seen occasionally within colonies (Figure 12d). The individual organisms were either closely packed within the colony (Figures 12a and c) or were separated by open spaces (Figure 12b).

At 15 days post-repletion (Figures 13a-d), colonies contained <u>Ana-plasma</u> organisms that were generally smaller (Figures 13a and b) and appeared to vary more in size than those seen in the 10 day group. Some colonies had open spaces separating the organisms (Figure 13a), whereas others contained closely packed organisms (Figures 13b-d). Unusually large organisms located within some colonies and aggregates of small colonies were also observed (Figure 13b); these findings were similar to those described previously in ticks collected from the 5 and 10 day repletion groups.

In colonies observed at 20 days post-repletion (Figures 14a-d), the organisms within the <u>Anaplasma</u> colonies appeared to be smaller when compared with those seen at 5 days post-repletion, and most organisms were rod-like in shape (Figures 14a and b). Some colonies contained small round organisms (Figures 14c and d) that sometimes occurred in clusters (Figure 14c). Wide empty spaces were also more apparent between organisms (Figures 14c and d) than in previous repletion groups.

Colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> observed at 25 days post-repletion (Figures 15a-d) were similar to those seen at 20 days. The individual organisms were small and most were rod-shaped (Figures 15a-d).

- Figure 12. Light micrographs of colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> (C) in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>an-</u> <u>dersoni</u> at 10 days post-repletion.
 - (a) Some colonies are located within the interior of the epithelial cells. Organisms are packed closely together within the colony. x 1800.
 - (b) Some colonies are located within the interior of the epithelial cells. Organisms are separated by open spaces. x 1900.
 - (c) Other colonies are located near the basement membrane (BM). Organisms are packed closely together within the colony. x 2000.
 - (d) Aggregates of small colonies are sometimes
 seen. Unusually large organisms (A) are seen
 occasionally. x 1800.



- Figure 13. Light micrographs of colonies of <u>A. marginale</u> (C) found in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D. andersoni</u> at 15 days post-repletion. Organisms appear to vary more in size than those seen previously in the 10 day group.
 - (a) Organisms are generally smaller than those seen in ticks from previous repletion groups. Some colonies have open spaces separating the organisms. x 1800.
 - (b) An aggregate of small colonies is seen containing some unusually large organisms (A). Organisms are generally smaller than those seen previously in the 5 and 10 day repletion groups and are closely packed within the colony. x 1900.
 - (c) and (d) Organisms are closely packed within the colony.
 - (c) x 1900.
 - (d) x 2000.



- Figure 14. Light micrographs of colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> (C) found in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 20 days post-repletion. The organisms within colonies appear to be smaller when compared with those seen at 5 days postrepletion.
 - (a) and (b) Most organisms are rod-like in shape.
 - (a) x 1900.
 - (b) x 2000.
 - (c) Some colonies contain small round organisms separated by wide empty spaces. Organisms sometimes occur in clusters. x 1900.
 - (d) Some colonies contain small round organisms. Wide empty spaces between organisms are more apparent than in ticks from previous repletion groups. x 1900.



Figure 15. Light micrographs of colonies of <u>A</u>. marginale (C) found in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D</u>. andersoni at 25 days post-repletion. The colonies contain small, rod-shaped organisms.

(a) x 1900.
(b) x 2100.
(c) x 1900.
(d) x 1900.



Electron Microscopy

Colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> visualized by electron microscopy confirmed the light microscopy observations. <u>Anaplasma</u> organisms within colonies appeared to gradually decrease in size in the period from 5 to 20 days post-repletion. The shape of the organisms changed from round at 5, 10, and 15 days to rod-shaped at 20 and 25 days post-repletion. Individual organisms were separate from each other and the open spaces between organisms gradually increased with increasing repletion time. All of the <u>Anaplasma</u> organisms observed were reticulated forms. Small electron-dense particles were also seen in colonies from ticks dissected at each day of repletion. Electron-dense forms were not observed in any of the replete nymphs studied.

At 5 days post-repletion, colonies contained round to oblong-shaped organisms (Figures 16a and b). The margins of the limiting membrane of these organisms had a typically wavy appearance (Figure 16b). Some of the organisms within the colonies appeared to be undergoing binary fission (Figure 16b). Small electron-dense particles were present in some of the colonies (Figures 16a and 17a) in the spaces between <u>Anaplasma</u> organisms. A grouping of small particles within a limiting membrane outside a colony was also observed (Figure 16a). Likewise, small particles were occasionally present within the limiting membrane of the reticulated forms (Figure 17b). A few <u>Anaplasma</u> organisms within colonies were enclosed by membrane whorls (Figure 17b). Some colonies contained a large clump of organisms (Figure 18a), a finding that appeared to correspond to the unusually large organisms occasionally seen at the light microscopy level (Figure 11a).

- Figure 16. Electron micrographs of a colony of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 5 days post-repletion. Colonies contain round to oblong-shaped organisms.
 - (a) Small electron-dense particles (P) are present in the spaces between organisms. A grouping of small particles within a limiting membrane (S) outside the colony is also present. x 12,300.
 - (b) The margins of the limiting membrane of these organisms has a typically wavy appearance. Some organisms appear to be undergoing binary fission
 (F). x 35,000.


Figure 17. Electron micrographs of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> organisms within colonies from nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 5 days postrepletion.

- (a) Small electron-dense particles (P) are presentin the spaces between organisms. x 22,200.
- (b) Small electron-dense particles (P) are occasionally present within the limiting membrane of the organisms. A few organisms are enclosed by membrane whorls (W). x 18,200.



Figure 18. Electron micrographs of colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 5 days post-repletion.

- (a) A large clump of organisms (B) is present within the colony. x 19,800.
- (b) Tail-like appendages (T) are present in the gutlumen near a few colonies. x 10,400.



Tail-like appendages were observed in the lumen of the gut near a few colonies at 5 days post-repletion (Figure 18b). Appendages were either attached to or interdigitated with the luminal surface of the host cell membrane (Figures 19a and b) or were free in the gut lumen (Figure 20a). These appendages displayed longitudinal and transverse periodicity (Figure 20a). One appendage was also observed within the epithelial tissue and was enclosed by a limiting membrane (Figure 20b). However, initial bodies were not seen attached to or associated with these appendages.

In the 10 day post-repletion group, colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u>, when compared with the 5 day repletion group, contained fewer organisms with more open space between individual organisms (Figures 21a and b). Fewer oblong-shaped organisms were seen and few were observed that appeared to be dividing by binary fission. Small electron-dense particles were frequently seen within the limiting membrane of the <u>Anaplasma</u> organisms (Figures 22a and b). Some of the organisms were subdivided on their margin by alternating light and dark bands (Figures 22a and b). Small particles were also seen in the spaces between organisms (Figure 23a). Some organisms were occasionally seen with clumps of small particles expanding within their limiting membranes (Figure 23a). Clumps of organisms that contained membrane whorls around the individual organisms were also observed in some colonies (Figure 23b).

Colonies seen at 15 days post-repletion (Figures 24a and b) were similar to those seen at 10 days. Most <u>Anaplasma</u> organisms were round with open spaces separating the individual organisms. In some colonies, organisms exhibited irregular shapes (Figure 25a). Small electron-dense particles and the previously described subdivisions of light and dark

68

- Figure 19. Electron micrographs of tail-like appendages found associated with the midgut epithelial cells in nymphal <u>D</u>. andersoni at 5 days post-repletion.
 - (a) Some appendages (T) are attached to the luminal surface (L) of the host cell membrane. x 45,100.
 - (b) Some appendages (T) are interdigitated with the luminal surface (L) of the host cell membrane.x 37,300.



Figure 20. Electron micrographs of tail-like appendages found associated with the midgut epithelial cells in nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 5 days post-repletion.

- (a) Some appendages (T) appear to be free in the gut lumen. Appendages display longitudinal and transverse periodicity. x 34,300.
- (b) One appendage (T) appears to be in the epithelial cell and enclosed by a limiting membrane(LM). x 31,800.



Figure 21. Electron micrographs of colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 10 days post-repletion. Colonies contain fewer organisms with more open space between individual organisms when compared with the 5 day repletion group. (a) x 9600. (b) x 9700.



Figure 22. Electron micrographs of <u>A</u>. marginale organisms within colonies from nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 10 days postrepletion. Small electron-dense particles (P) are seen within the limiting membrane of organisms. Some organisms are subdivided on their margin by alternating light and dark bands (E).

(a) x 25,200. (b) x 22,100.



- Figure 23. Electron micrographs of colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 10 days post-repletion.
 - (a) Small electron-dense particles (P) are seen in the spaces between organisms. Some organisms contain clumps of small particles (CP) expanding within the limiting membrane. x 21,400.
 - (b) A clump of organisms (B) contains membrane whorls around the individual organisms (W).x 20,600.



Figure 24. Electron micrographs of colonies of <u>A. marginale</u> in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D. andersoni</u> at 15 days post-repletion. The organisms are round with open spaces separating individual organisms. (a) x 6100.
(b) x 8900.



- Figure 25. Electron micrographs of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> organisms within colonies from nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 15 days post-repletion.
 - (a) The organisms (J) in some colonies exhibit irregular shapes. x 20,000.
 - (b) Small electron-dense particles (P) are seen within the limiting membrane of organisms. Organisms are subdivided on their margin by alternating light and dark bands (E). x 16,900.



ŧ.

bands were frequently seen within the limiting membrane of the organisms (Figure 25b). Small particles were also occasionally seen in the spaces between organisms. Clumps of organisms were likewise seen within certain colonies and these contained membrane whorls (Figure 26a). Organisms with clumps of small particles expanding within their limiting membranes were also observed (Figure 26b).

At 20 days post-repletion, colonies of A. marginale contained organisms that were different from those seen in ticks from groups that were replete for up to 15 days. Many of these organisms had an elongated, rod-shaped appearance (Figures 27a and b). Some colonies contained few organisms that were usually clustered in one area (Figure 28a). Others contained large clumps of organisms in which individual organisms were surrounded by membrane whorls (Figures 28b and 29a). In general, the organisms appeared to be smaller than those seen in ticks from earlier repletion groups. Most of the rod-shaped organisms had two cell membranes (Figures 29b and 30a), whereas others were surrounded by more than two cell membranes (Figure 30b). Some colonies contained more compact and irregularly-shaped organisms than usually seen (Figures 31a and b). Small electron-dense particles were seen within the limiting membrane of some organisms (Figures 31a and b, 32a and b) or between organisms (Figure 28b). Internal subdivisions of light and dark bands were also seen in certain organisms (Figures 32a and b). The margins of the limiting membranes of most organisms were smoother than those seen in ticks from groups that were replete for a shorter time.

<u>Anaplasma</u> organisms seen within colonies in the 25 day post-repletion group were similar to those seen at 20 days. These organisms were either elongated (Figure 33a) or were more compact and irregularly shaped

83

- Figure 26. Electron micrographs of colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 15 days post-repletion.
 - (a) A clump of organisms (B) is seen that contains membrane whorls (W). \times 13,000.
 - (b) Some organisms contain clumps of small electrondense particles (CP) expanding within the limiting membrane. x 31,100.



Figure 27. Electron micrographs of a colony of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 20 days post-repletion. Many of the organisms (J) have an elongated, rod-shaped appearance. (a) x 10,000. (b) x 17,300.



Figure 28. Electron micrographs of colonies of <u>A</u>. marginale in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal D. andersoni at 20 days post-repletion.

- (a) Some colonies contain a few organisms clustered in one area (CJ). x 17,100.
- (b) A large clump of organisms within a colony contains individual organisms surrounded by membrane whorls (W). Small electron-dense particles (P) are seen between organisms. x17,000.



Figure 29. Electron micrographs of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> organisms within colonies from nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 20 days post-repletion.

- (a) Individual organisms from a clump are surroundedby membrane whorls (W). x 53,600.
- (b) Most rod-shaped organisms are surrounded by two cell membranes (M). x 21,800.



Figure 30. Electron micrographs of <u>A. marginale</u> organisms within colonies from nymphal <u>D. andersoni</u> at 20 days post-repletion.

- (a) Most rod-shaped organisms are surrounded by two cell membranes (M). x 38,700.
- (b) Some organisms are surrounded by more than two cell membranes (D). x 39,700.



Figure 31. Electron micrographs of colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 20 days post-repletion. Some colonies contain more compact and irregularly-shaped organisms (J) than usually seen. Small electron-dense particles (P) are present within the limiting membrane of some organisms. (a) x 13,300. (b) x 9900.



Figure 32. Electron micrographs of A. marginale organisms within colonies from nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 20 days post-repletion. Small electron-dense particles (P) are present within the limiting membrane of some organisms. Organisms are subdivided on their margin by alternating light and dark bands (E). (a) x 19,100. (b) x 18,900.



Figure 33. Electron micrographs of colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 25 days post-repletion. Small electron-dense particles (P) are seen in the spaces between organisms.

- (a) Most of the organisms (J) in this colony are elongated. x 18,200.
- (b) Some organisms (J) in this colony are more compact and irregularly shaped. x 15,500.


(Figure 33b). Organisms appeared to be similar in size to those seen in the 20 day group. Some colonies contained clumps of organisms in which individual organisms were surrounded by membrane whorls (Figures 34a and b). Internal subdivision of organisms was occasionally seen (Figure 34b). Small electron-dense particles occurred within the limiting membrane of organisms (Figure 35) as well as in spaces between organisms (Figures 33a and b) as was previously described.

Colony Density and Distribution

Mean colony densities (number of colonies per 0.1 mm² gut tissue examined) found in gut cross-sections from nymphal ticks at various repletion times are listed in Table VI. Colonies were present in ticks collected on each repletion day (5 to 25 days); colonies were not observed in gut tissues from control ticks. Mean colony densities increased to a peak of 2.25 at 15 days post-repletion, decreased slightly at 20 days, and then dropped sharply at 25 days (Figure 36). The standard error of the mean (SEM) was low for most repletion days but was higher at 15 and 20 days post-repletion, the time at which the highest mean colony densities were observed.

Table VII shows the analysis of variance for mean colony densities in replete nymphal ticks. The differences in colony density on the various days of repletion were not statistically significant. Even though statistically significant differences were not demonstrated with analysis of variance, the mean colony densities in gut tissue from ticks of the different repletion groups reflected a significant quadratic trend (P = 0.03). This could be illustrated in Figure 36 by hypothetically connecting the midpoints of the peaks for each repletion group with a line. A

Figure 34. Electron micrographs of a colony of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in the midgut epithelial cells of nymphal <u>D</u>. <u>andersoni</u> at 25 days post-repletion.

- (a) A clump of organisms (B) contains an individual organism surrounded by membrane whorls (W).
 x 16,000.
- (b) A clump of organisms (B) contains an individual organism surrounded by membrane whorls (W). A few organisms are subdivided on their margin by alternating light and dark bands (E). x 19,900.



Figure 35. Electron micrograph of <u>A. marginale</u> organisms within a colony from nymphal <u>D. andersoni</u> at 25 days postrepletion. A small electron-dense particle (P) is seen within the limiting membrane of an organism. x 37,200.



TABLE VI

MEAN COLONY DENSITY^{*} IN NYMPHAL <u>DERMACENTOR</u> <u>ANDERSONI</u> THAT WERE REPLETE FOR 5 TO 25 DAYS AFTER FEEDING ON A CALF INFECTED WITH ANAPLASMA MARGINALE

| Days Post- Repletion | No. of Ticks Per Group | Mean Colony Density | Range | SEM | | |
|-------------------------|---------------------------|------------------------|-----------|------|--|--|
| 5 | 10 | 1.33 | 0.29-4.22 | 0.41 | | |
| 10 | 10 | 1.79 | 0.49-3.62 | 0.27 | | |
| 15 | 10 | 2.25 | 0.08-7.82 | 0.76 | | |
| 20 | 10 | 2.07 | 0.27-8.06 | 0.79 | | |
| 25 | 10 | 0.56 | 0.00-1.27 | 0.11 | | |
| | | | | | | |

 * Colony density (mean number of colonies per 0.1 $\mbox{ mm}^2$ of gut tissue examined).

Figure 36. Mean colony density (number of colonies per 0.1 mm² gut tissue examined) in nymphal <u>D. andersoni</u> that were replete for 5 to 25 days after feeding on a calf infected with <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u>.



TABLE VII

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF THE NUMBER OF COLONIES PER 0.1 MM² GUT TISSUE EXAMINED FROM NYMPHAL <u>DERMA</u>-<u>CENTOR ANDERSONI</u> THAT WERE REPLETE FOR 5 TO 25 DAYS AFTER FEEDING ON A CALF INFECTED WITH ANAPLASMA MARGINALE

| Source of Variation | DF | Sum of Squares | Mean Square | F | P Value |
|-------------------------|----|-------------------|----------------|-----|---------|
| Total | 49 | 1.49 | | | |
| Days Post- Repletion | 4 | 0.19 | 0.05 | 1.6 | 0.189 |
| Error | 45 | 1.30 | 0.03 | | |

curve would be produced that indicated a quadratic trend. The existence of this trend was supported by a pairwise comparison of the different repletion groups. The P values suggested that ticks from the 15 and 20 day post-repletion groups had significantly greater mean colony densities than did those from the 5, 10, and 25 day groups.

Mean colony areas for each repletion group are listed in Table VIII. Slight differences were observed in the colony areas between the five repletion groups, but the means were not statistically different. Values for the standard error of the mean (SEM) were high due to the wide variation in colony areas observed within each repletion group.

TABLE VIII

. · · ·

MEAN COLONY AREA IN NYMPHAL <u>DERMACENTOR ANDERSONI</u> THAT WERE REPLETE FOR 5 TO 25 DAYS AFTER FEEDING ON A CALF INFECTED WITH ANAPLASMA MARGINALE

| Days Post- | No. of Colonies | Colony Area (µm ²) [*] | | | |
|------------|-----------------|---|------------|------|--|
| Repletion | Measured | Mean | Range | SEM | |
| 5 | 310 | 100.5 | 78.7-195.8 | 10.8 | |
| 10 | 420 | 87.6 | 52.8-140.5 | 8.4 | |
| 15 | 412 | 88.9 | 36.0-119.0 | 7.9 | |
| 20 | 473 | 101.9 | 30.4-253.4 | 19.1 | |
| 25 | 115 | 99.6 | 53.2-144.0 | 10.4 | |

* Colony area measured as a rectangle using longest and shortest diameters.

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

Colonies of Anaplasma marginale have been described previously in the midgut epithelial cells of adult Dermacentor andersoni infected as nymphs.90,91 In the present study, colonies were found in adults that fed for 3 to 6 days as nymphs on a calf with anaplasmosis. These colonies were similar to those described by Kocan et al.⁹¹ and included all five morphologic colony types. Apparently, three days of feeding were required for nymphs to acquire sufficient numbers of organisms to give rise to colony levels detectable by light microscopy in subsequentlymolted adults. In a recent study on effects of elevated temperature on colony formation in adult D. andersoni that were infected as nymphs, type 3 colonies were most prevalent in ticks following incubation for 2.5 days at 37 C.⁹² In the present study in which ticks were also incubated for 2.5 days at 37 C, 89% of the colonies observed were type 3. Electron microscopy examination of type 3 colonies revealed the presence of electron-dense forms, reticulated forms, and small particles, all typical of type 3 colonies described previously.

The process of feeding ticks on calves with high <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> parasitemia levels has been shown to result in larger numbers of colonies than when ticks are fed on calves with low levels of parasitemia.⁸² The donor calf used in this study had its highest parasitemia levels of 48.2% and 45.6% on the last two days of nymphal feeding (days 5 and 6) just

prior to the transfer of ticks to an uninfected calf. The parasitemia levels on days 5 and 6 were comparable to the high parasitemia levels reported previously to result in maximal colony development.⁸² A susceptible calf on which nymphs from the last two transfer days were fed developed anaplasmosis. This suggests that high parasitemia levels are necessary for ticks feeding on an infected calf to acquire sufficient numbers of organisms to transfer the infection to another susceptible animal. However, in this case transfer of parasites to an uninfected calf may have been due to mechanical transmission of organisms via blood-contaminated mouthparts, rather than through normal biological development of the organisms in ticks.

Gut homogenates prepared from adult D. andersoni infected with A. marginale as nymphs have been shown to produce typical anaplasmosis in susceptible calves. 78,79,81 Gut homogenates prepared in this study from unfed, incubated adult ticks that fed 2 to 6 days as nymphs on an infected calf produced anaplasmosis when inoculated into susceptible calves. A minimum of two days of feeding was thus necessary for the nymphs to acquire enough A. marginale organisms to transmit infections to susceptible calves. With the exception of the transfer day 4 group, the prepatent periods in inoculated calves decreased from the day 2 group to the day 6 one. These data suggest that nymphs ingest more infective organisms with increased feeding time, especially when feeding on hosts with high parasitemia levels. Prepatent periods have been shown to be shortened using gut homogenates from infected ticks that were incubated for 2.5 days 81 and from ticks that fed on calves with high parasitemia levels.⁸² The incubation times and parasitemia levels observed in the present study are consistent with the earlier studies in which shortened

prepatent periods occurred. Anaplasmosis infection did not occur with the gut homogenate from transfer day 1 ticks. If the parasitemia level had been higher on the first day of nymphal feeding, perhaps this gut homogenate might have been infective because more infective organisms would have been ingested by these ticks. The gut homogenate from transfer day 4 produced the longest prepatent period for unknown reasons; this may reflect the individual susceptibility of the calf used in this experiment.

The mean colony density (number of colonies per 0.1 mm² gut tissue examined) has been reported for gut tissues from unfed, incubated D. andersoni adults infected as nymphs. ^{82,92} The greatest density of colonies occurred after incubation at 37 C for 2.5 days 92 and when the donor calf had a high parasitemia level. 82 In the present study there was an increase in the mean colony density for the combined groups of male and female ticks from each of the transfer days 3 through 6. Ticks from the transfer day 6 group had a significantly higher mean colony density than did ticks from the other transfer day groups. Colonies were not observed in day 2 ticks, even though gut homogenates from this group produced infection in a susceptible calf. If additional gut cross-sections had been examined, perhaps colonies might have been detected in this group. It is possible that an insufficient number of infective organisms entered the nymphal gut tissue to result in colony formation in the day 2 group of adult ticks. It appears from the present study that increased feeding time and the increasing parasitemia level in the donor calf both influenced colony densities, making them greater.

Even though nymphs contained infective <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> organisms as early as the second day of feeding, as verified by the animal inoculation study, colonies were not seen in their gut tissue. However, colonies

were observed in the same group of nymphs five days after repletion. Digestion of the bloodmeal by nymphs may not have been adequate during the time of their feeding for infective organisms to enter the gut tissue or insufficient time had elapsed for colony development to take place in nymphs while they were feeding. Nymphal gut tissues from the 5 and 6 day feeding groups were also difficult to infiltrate with plastic and to section for light microscopy; these technical difficulties may account for the inability to locate colonies in this group of ticks.

The morphology of colonies of A. marginale has been described in gut tissue from adult ticks infected as nymphs.⁹¹ Colonies have not been reported for replete nymphal ticks previously, even though infected nymphs were examined at 10 days after repletion.⁹⁰ In the present investigation, colonies were found in nymphal ticks from 5 to 25 days postrepletion. The colonies were generally oblong in shape, whereas the colonies described in adult ticks were usually round. The Anaplasma organisms seen within colonies from nymphal ticks appeared to decrease in size, and they also changed in shape from round to rod-shaped between 5 and 20 days post-repletion. No comparable change in size or shape of organisms was reported for colonies from adult ticks.⁹¹ Colonies in nymphal ticks contained individual organisms that were separate from each other, whereas organisms from certain colonies in adult ticks occurred in clumps.⁹¹ The organisms seen in nymphal tick colonies were all reticulated forms; electron-dense forms were not observed. Colonies from adult ticks contained either electron-dense forms or reticulated forms or both, depending on the morphologic colony type.⁹¹ Small electron-dense particles that have been described in colonies from adult ticks⁹¹ were also seen in colonies from nymphal ticks. Such particles were found within the

limiting membrane of reticulated forms and in the spaces between organisms in colonies from all repletion groups.

Membrane whorls have been reported previously in colonies from adult ticks and were associated with reticulated forms in the type 4 and type 5 colonies.⁹¹ Membrane whorls were also seen in colonies from nymphal ticks in all of the post-repletion groups. The whorls were generally associated with clumps of reticulated forms. It has been suggested that membrane whorls may be a sign of organismal degeneration.⁹¹ The membrane whorls seen in nymphal tick colonies may likewise indicate degeneration of organisms, as has been hypothesized for colonies from adult ticks. However, they may also be a result of normal colony development. Because the membrane whorls were generally seen in association with clumps of organisms, perhaps these clumps expand and become the separated organisms that populate the nymphal tick colonies.

Small electron-dense particles seen in adult tick colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> were postulated to be similar to the miniature reticulate bodies ies described in <u>Chlamydia</u> inclusions.⁹¹ Miniature reticulate bodies were formed within larger reticulate bodies and then released either by a mechanism similar to budding or by rupture of the parent reticulate body cell wall.⁹⁸ Many small particles were observed within the limiting membranes of the reticulated forms in colonies from nymphal ticks. These small particles may be released into the colony from reticulated forms in a fashion similar to that reported for <u>Chlamydia</u>, but this process has not been observed in <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u>. Small particles have also been described in the bovine erythrocyte in association with <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> initial bodies,¹⁰ but the role of these particles is not known at present.

Reticulated forms in nymphal tick colonies were frequently subdivided on the margin of their limiting membrane by alternating light and dark bands. These subdivisions may be a preliminary process in the formation of the small electron-dense particles. It has been suggested in <u>Chlamydia</u> development that the formation of miniature reticulate bodies might result from unequal synthesis of the reticulate body cell membranes.⁹⁹ Membrane associated subdivisions seen in <u>A. marginale</u> reticulated forms may result in a similar manner.

Tail-like inclusion appendages have been described previously in association with initial bodies in the bovine erythrocyte. 10,18-23 These inclusion appendages were visible only in lysed erythrocytes from which the electron-dense hemoglobin was removed. Inclusion appendages have also been demonstrated in the gut lumen of feeding adult D. andersoni using the fluorescent-antibody technique.⁸³ Inclusion appendages were seen with electron microscopy in one gut cross-section near a group of colonies in nymphal ticks at 5 days post-repletion. This appears to be the first observation and report of inclusion appendages in tick gut tissue using electron microscopy. The appendages were attached to or interdigitated with the luminal surface of the host cell membrane, and some were free in the gut lumen. These appendages may aid the parasite in its entry into the tick gut tissue; however, no initial bodies were seen in association with them. Inclusion appendages may also have been present in the gut lumen of feeding nymphs, but the electron-dense hemoglobin in the lumen at this time would have obscured their presence. In later postrepletion groups, where the bloodmeal would have been more fully digested, appendages were not seen at all. These initial observations have been confirmed by Kocan et al. 100

Some reticulated forms were observed that appeared to be dividing by binary fission in nymphal tick colonies at 5 days post-repletion but were rarely seen in the 10 day group. In this respect they resemble rickettsial organisms such as <u>Rickettsia rickettsii</u> which also divides by binary fission.³ <u>Rickettsia rickettsii</u> has a relatively simple cycle of development in its tick vector. Rickettsiae are ingested with a bloodmeal and enter the midgut cells where they multiply and migrate into the hemolymph. From there they are disseminated to other body tissues such as salivary glands, ovaries, and Malpighian tubules.²⁸ Binary fission was not observed in nymphal tick colonies of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in the later repletion groups, suggesting that this parasite undergoes a more complex cycle of development than do typical rickettsiae.

The occurrence of more than two cell membranes in some of the reticulated forms seen at 20 days post-repletion has not been reported previously in colonies from adult ticks. The presence of rod-shaped organisms in nymphs at this time was also unusual and further substantiates the probable complexity of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> development. The meaning of additional cell membrane formation and elongation of organisms is not known, but it may be possible that hormonal changes in the tick just before molting could induce morphologic alterations in the parasites.

The different forms of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> described in colonies from adult ticks have been postulated to resemble stages seen in the developmental cycle of <u>Chlamydia</u>.⁹¹ The electron-dense elementary body, which is the infective stage for <u>Chlamydia</u>, enters the host cell and reorganizes through an intermediate form into larger reticulated bodies. The reticulated bodies then reorganize into elementary bodies through another intermediate form. Reticulated bodies divide by binary fission and are

noninfective.⁹⁴ The reticulated forms seen at 5 days post-repletion in nymphal ticks also appeared to divide by binary fission and perhaps are analogous to the reticulated bodies seen in <u>Chlamydia</u>. A developmental sequence from electron-dense forms to reticulated forms was suggested for <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> organisms seen in adult ticks.⁹¹ By contrast, in nymphal tick colonies all the organisms observed were reticulated forms. The change of reticulated forms from round to rod-shaped and the apparent decrease in organismal size with increasing repletion time suggested a possible developmental sequence in nymphs. Because the number of colonies decreased considerably between 20 and 25 days post-repletion, nymphal tick colonies may degenerate and later reorganize into the colonies that are present in adult ticks.

The mean colony density (number of colonies per 0.1 mm² gut tissue examined) was described in adult ticks infected as nymphs,⁹² but colony density has not been analyzed previously in replete nymphs. In the present study, mean colony densities for replete nymphal ticks increased to a peak at 15 days post-repletion, decreased slightly at 20 days and dropped sharply at 25 days. Although the colony densities did not vary significantly among the different repletion groups, a statistically significant quadratic trend was observed. This quadratic trend was consistent with the pairwise comparison which suggested that the 15 and 20 day post-repletion groups had significantly greater mean colony densities than the other repletion groups. The small number of colonies seen at 25 days post-repletion coincided with the time when the nymphs were becoming ready to molt. The cross-sections of gut tissue examined at this time were frequently missing the basement membrane, which is the area in which most <u>A. marginale</u> colonies occur. This apparent absence of basement

membrane may have resulted from the methods by which the nymphs were dissected. Another possibility is that <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> colonies degenerate in replete nymphs. Such degeneration, if it occurs, may be due to hormonal or morphologic changes that ticks undergo near the time of molting.

The mean diameter of colonies seen in adult ticks has been described.^{91,92} There was a gradual increase in the mean diameter from type 1 colonies to type 5 colonies.^{91,92} It was not possible to measure the diameters in nymphal tick colonies due to their irregular shape; therefore, the mean colony area was determined. In contrast to colonies seen in adult ticks where the mean diameter increased with the colony type number, only slight differences in the mean colony area were observed between the different groups of replete nymphs.

CHAPTER V

SUMMARY

Anaplasmosis is a major disease of cattle that contributes significantly to economic losses in the cattle industry. It can be transmitted mechanically by various arthropod vectors. However, ticks appear to be the only proven biological vectors of this disease.^{1,59,66,67} <u>Anaplasma</u> <u>marginale</u> was first recognized as the causative agent of this disease 75 years ago.⁶ In spite of the years of research devoted to it, the life cycle of <u>A. marginale</u> in the bovine host and in tick vectors has not yet been fully described.

The first objective of the present study was to determine when feeding nymphal <u>Dermacentor andersoni</u> become infected with <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u>. The nymphal transfer studies demonstrated that feeding nymphs acquired enough <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> organisms by the second day of feeding to become infected and transmit infection as adults to susceptible calves. However, the nymphs did not acquire a sufficient dosage of organisms to initiate colony development until the third day of feeding. Although all five morphologic colony types were present, the type 3 colony was the most prevalent. The mean colony density for the combined groups of male and female ticks increased up to the last day of feeding (day 6); mean colony density was significantly higher in these ticks than in those from other transfer day groups. The prepatent periods for infection decreased in the same time period as the mean colony density increased. The results

from this study suggest that the feeding nymphs ingest more infective organisms with increased feeding time and with the increased parasitemia levels of the donor calf.

The second objective of the present study was to examine the development of colonies of A. marginale in feeding and replete nymphal ticks. Although colonies were not observed in nymphs during the six days of feeding, colonies were present in replete nymphs from 5 to 25 days postrepletion. This finding is significant because colonies were not previously observed in replete nymphs. The morphology of nymphal colonies was found to be different in certain respects from the colonies found in adult ticks. The organisms within the colonies appeared to decrease in size and also changed in shape from round to rod-shaped with increasing repletion time. Furthermore, all the organisms seen were reticulated forms. No electron-dense forms were present. Some reticulated forms from ticks dissected at 5 days post-repletion appeared to be dividing by binary fission. However, binary fission was not observed in organisms studied from ticks in later post-repletion groups. Small electron-dense particles, which have been observed in adult tick colonies, ⁹¹ were also present in colonies from replete nymphs.

Tail-like inclusion appendages, similar to those seen associated with initial bodies in bovine erythrocytes, $^{10,18-23}$ were observed by electron microscopy at 5 days post-repletion. However, no initial bodies were seen associated with these appendages. These inclusion appendages may aid the parasite in its entry into the tick gut tissue. This appears to be the first time that inclusion appendages have been observed in tick gut tissue with electron microscopy; these initial observations have since been confirmed.¹⁰⁰

The mean colony density for replete nymphs increased up to 15 days post-repletion, decreased slightly at 20 days, and then dropped sharply at 25 days. Ticks from the 15 and 20 day post-repletion groups were thought to have significantly greater mean colony densities than those from other repletion groups. The reduced number of colonies observed at 25 days post-repletion might have resulted from hormonal or morphologic changes that ticks undergo just prior to molting.

A developmental sequence has been postulated for the different forms of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> observed in colonies from adult ticks.⁹¹ The change of reticulated forms from round to rod-shaped and the apparent decrease in organismal size with increasing repletion time suggested a possible developmental sequence in nymphs. The considerable decrease in the number of colonies seen at 25 days post-repletion might indicate that nymphal tick colonies degenerate and later reorganize into the colonies seen in adult ticks. More work needs to be done to clarify the exact mechanism of infection of <u>A</u>. <u>marginale</u> in nymphal ticks and to determine the mode of transfer of this parasite from the tick vector to the bovine host.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ristic M: Anaplasmosis, in Weinman D, Ristic M (eds): Infectious Blood Diseases of Man and Animals. New York, Academic Press, Inc., 1968, pp 478-542.
- Ristic M: Anaplasmosis, in Amstutz HE (ed): Bovine Medicine and Surgery. Santa Barbara, California, American Veterinary Publications, Inc., 1980, pp 324-348.
- Moulder JW: The Rickettsias, in Buchanan RE, Gibbon NE (eds): Bergey's Manual of Determinative Bacteriology, Ed 9. Baltimore, Williams and Wilkins Co., 1984, pp 882-928.
- 4. McCallon BR: Prevalence and economic aspects of anaplasmosis, in Proceedings, 6th Natl Anaplasmosis Conf, pp 1-3, 1973.
- 5. Smith T, Kilborne FL: Investigations into the nature, causation and prevention of Texas or southern cattle fever. USDA, <u>Bur</u> Animal Ind Bull, 8th & 9th Ann Repts, pp 177-304, 1893.
- Theiler A: Gall-sickness of South Africa (anaplasmosis of cattle). J Comp Path and Therap 23:98-115, 1910.
- 7. Ristic M: Bovine anaplasmosis, in Kreier J (ed): Parasitic Protozoa. New York, Academic Press, 1977, Vol 4, pp 235-249.
- Uilenberg G, van Vorstenbosch CJAHV, Perié NM: Blood parasites of sheep in the Netherlands. I. <u>Anaplasma mesaeterum</u> sp. n. (Rickettsiales, Anaplasmataceae). <u>Vet Quarterly</u> 1:14-22, 1979.
- 9. Theiler A: <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> (Genus et spec. nov.). The marginal points in the blood of cattle suffering from a specific disease. <u>Rept Govt Vet Bact</u>, <u>Dept Agric</u>, <u>Transvaal</u>, <u>So Africa</u>, pp 7-64, 1908-1909 (1910).
- Kocan KM, Venable JH, Brock WE: Ultrastructure of anaplasmal inclusions (Pawhuska isolate) and their appendages in intact and hemolyzed erythrocytes and in complement-fixation antigen. <u>Am</u> J Vet Res 39:1123-1130, 1978.
- 11. Venable JH: Ultrastructural and biochemical properties of anaplasmal organisms: an overview, in <u>Proceedings</u>, 7th Natl Anaplasmosis Conf, pp 89-104, 1981.

- Simpson CF, Kling JM, Love JN: Morphologic and histochemical nature of Anaplasma marginale. Am J Vet Res 28:1055-1065, 1967.
- Amerault TE, Roby TO, Sealock RL: Ultrastructure of <u>Anaplasma</u> <u>mar-</u> ginale after freeze-fracture. Am J Vet Res 36:1515-1519, 1975.
- 14. Gates DW, Roby TO, Amerault TE, Anthony DW: Ultrastructure of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> fixed with glutaraldehyde and osmium tetroxide. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 28:1577-1580, 1967.
- 15. Scott WL, Geer JC, Foote LE: Electron microscopy of <u>Anaplasma mar-ginale</u> in the bovine erythrocyte. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 22:877-880, 1961.
- 16. Francis DH, Kinden DA, Buening GM: Characterization of the inclusion limiting membrane of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> by immunoferritin labeling. Am J Vet Res 40:777-782, 1979.
- Kocan KM, Venable JH, Hsu KC, Brock WE: Ultrastructural localization of anaplasmal antigens (Pawhuska isolate) with ferritinconjugated antibody. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 39:1131-1135, 1978.
- Simpson CF, Kling JM, Neal FC: The nature of bands in parasitized bovine erythrocytes. J Cell Biol 27:225-235, 1965.
- Kreier JP, Ristic M: Anaplasmosis X. Morphologic characteristics of the parasites present in the blood of calves infected with the Oregon strain of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u>. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 24:676-687, 1963.
- 20. Boynton WH: Further observations on anaplasmosis. <u>Cornell Vet</u> 22: 10-28, 1932.
- Espana C, Espana EM, Gonzalez D: <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> I. Studies with phase contrast and electron microscopy. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 20: 795-805, 1959.
- 22. Madden PA: Structures of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> observed by using fluorescent antibody technique. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 23:921-924, 1962.
- 23. Pilcher KS, Wu WG, Muth OH: Studies on the morphology and respiration of Anaplasma marginale. Am J Vet Res 22:298-307, 1961.
- 24. Ristic M, Watrach AM: Anaplasmosis VI. Studies and a hypothesis concerning the cycle of development of the causative agent. <u>Am J</u> <u>Vet Res</u> 24:267-277, 1963.
- 25. Erp E, Fahrney D: Exit of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> from bovine red blood cells. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 36:707-709, 1975.

- 26. Philip CB: Ticks as purveyors of animal ailments: a review of pertinent data and of recent contributions. <u>Ad Acrol</u> 1:285-325, 1963.
- 27. Philip CB, Burgdorfer W: Arthropod vectors as reservoirs of microbial disease agents. Ann Rev Entomol 6:391-412, 1961.
- 28. Balashov YS: Bloodsucking ticks (Ixodoidea)--vectors of diseases of man and animals (Translation 500). <u>Misc Publ Entomol Soc</u> <u>Am</u> 8:161-376, 1972.
- 29. Reháček J: Development of animal viruses and rickettsiae in ticks and mites. Ann Rev Entomol 10:1-24, 1965.
- 30. Purnell RE: Tick-borne diseases. Br Vet J 137:221-240, 1981.
- 31. Burgdorfer W, Varma MGR: Trans-stadial and transovarial development of disease agents in arthropods. <u>Ann Rev Entomol</u> 12:347-376, 1967.
- 32. Kemp DH, Stone BF, Binnington KC: Tick attachment and feeding: role of the mouthparts, feeding apparatus, salivary gland secretions and the host response, in Obenchain FD, Galun R (eds): <u>Physio-</u> logy of Ticks. Oxford, Pergamon Press, 1982, pp 119-163.
- 33. Rudzinska MA, Spielman A, Lewengrub S, Piesman J, Karakashian S: Penetration of the peritrophic membrane of the tick by <u>Babe-</u> sia microti. Cell Tissue Res 221:471-481, 1982.
- 34. Chamberlain RW, Sudia WD: Mechanism of transmission of viruses by mosquitoes. Ann Rev Entomol 6:371-390, 1961.
- 35. Gregson JD: Worldwide research on tick feeding in relation to transmission of disease organisms. <u>Misc Publ Entomol Soc Am</u> 6:348-351, 1970.
- 36. Burgdorfer W: Investigation of "transovarial transmission" of <u>Rick-</u> <u>ettsia rickettsii</u> in the wood tick, <u>Dermacentor andersoni</u>. <u>Exp</u> <u>Para 14:152-159</u>, 1963.
- Burgdorfer W, Brinton LP: Mechanisms of transovarial infection of spotted fever rickettsiae in ticks. <u>Ann NY Acad Sci</u> 266:61-72, 1975.
- 38. Burgdorfer W, Aeschlimann A, Peter O, Hayes SF, Philip RN: <u>Ixodes</u> ricinus: vector of a hitherto undescribed spotted fever group agent in Switzerland. <u>Acta Trop</u> 36:357-367, 1979.
- 39. Philip CB: Arthropod vectors in relation to the reservoir mechanism of microbial agents of animal diseases. <u>Acta Trop</u> 18:257-262, 1961.

- 40. Plowright W, Perry CT, Greig A: Sexual transmission of African swine fever virus in the tick <u>Ornithodoros moubata porcinus</u>, Walton. <u>Res Vet Sci</u> 17:106-113, 1974.
- 41. Philip CB, Parker RR: Rocky Mountain spotted fever: investigation of sexual transmission in the wood tick <u>Dermacentor andersoni</u>. Public Health Repts (US) 48:266-272, 1933.
- 42. Hayes SF, Burgdorfer W, Aeschlimann A: Sexual transmission of spotted fever group rickettsiae by infected male ticks: detection of rickettsiae in immature spermatozoa of <u>lxodes ricinus</u>. <u>In-</u> fect Immun 27:638-642, 1980.
- 43. Philip CB: Observations on experimental Q fever. J Para 34:457-464, 1948.
- 44. Bertram DS: Rickettsial infections and ticks. Symp Zool Soc Lond 6:179-197, 1962.
- 45. Varma MGR: Transmission of relapsing fever spirochaetes by ticks. <u>Symp Zool Soc Lond</u> 6:61-82, 1962.
- 46. Harwood RF, James MT. <u>Entomology in Human and Animal Health</u>. New York, Macmillan Publishing Co., Inc., 1979.
- 47. Arthur DR: The ecology of ticks with reference to the transmission of protozoa, in Soulsby EJL (ed): <u>Biology of Parasites</u>. New York, Academic Press, 1966, pp 61-84.
- 48. Riek RF: The development of <u>Babesia</u> spp. and <u>Theileria</u> spp. inticks with special reference to those occurring in cattle, in Soulsby EJL (ed): <u>Biology of Parasites</u>. New York, Academic Press, 1966, pp 15-32.
- 49. Young AS, Leitch BL, Omwoyo PL: Induction of infective stages of <u>Theileria parva</u> by exposure of host ticks to high temperature. Vet Rec 105:531-533, 1979.
- 50. Young AS, Leitch BL: Epidemiology of East Coast fever: some effects of temperature on the development of <u>Theileria parva</u> in the tick vector, <u>Rhipicephalus</u> appendiculatus. <u>Parasitol</u> 83:199-211, 1981.
- 51. Samish M: Infective Theileria annulata in the tick without a blood meal stimulus. Nature 270:51-52, 1977.
- 52. Dalgliesh RJ, Stewart NP: Observations on the morphology and infectivity for cattle of <u>Babesia bovis</u> parasites in unfed <u>Boophilus</u> <u>microplus</u> larvae after incubation at various temperatures. <u>Int</u> J Parasitol 9:115-120, 1979.

- 53. Price WH: A quantitative analysis of the factors involved in the variations in virulence of rickettsiae. <u>Science</u> 11:49-52, 1953.
- 54. Price WH: Variation in virulence of "Rickettsia rickettsii" under natural and experimental conditions, in Hartman FW, Horsfall FL, Kidd JG (eds): <u>The Dynamics of Virus and Rickettsial In-</u> <u>fections</u>. New York, The Blakiston Company, Inc., 1954, pp <u>164-183</u>.
- 55. Purnell RE, Joyner LP: The development of <u>Theileria parva</u> in the salivary glands of the tick, <u>Rhipicephalus appendiculatus</u>. Parasitology 58:725-732, 1968.
- 56. Morzaria SP, Young AS, Hudson EB: <u>Babesia bigemina in Kenya</u>: Experimental transmission by <u>Boophilus decoloratus</u> and the production of tick-derived stabilates. <u>Parasitol</u> 74:291-298, 1977.
- 57. Young AS, Leitch BL: A probable relationship between the development of <u>Theileria</u> species and the ecdysis of their tick hosts. J Parasitol 66:356-359, 1980.
- 58. Gilford JH, Price WH: Virulent-avirulent conversions of <u>Rickettsia</u> rickettsii in vitro, in <u>Proceedings</u>, <u>Natl Acad Sci USA</u> 41:870-873, 1955.
- 59. Dikmans G: The transmission of anaplasmosis. Am J Vet Res 11:5-16, 1950.
- 60. Alderink FJ, Dietrich R: Anaplasmosis in Texas: epidemiologic and economic data from a questionnaire survey, in <u>Proceedings</u>, 7th Natl Anaplasmosis Conf, pp 27-44, 1981.
- 61. Hawkins JA, Love JN, Hidalgo RJ: Mechanical transmission of anaplasmosis by tabanids (Diptera: Tabanidae). <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 43:732-734, 1982.
- 62. Roberts RH, Pund WA, McCrory HF, Scales JW, Collins JC: The relative roles of the Culicidae and Tabanidae as vectors of anaplasmosis, in <u>Proceedings</u>, 5th Natl Anaplasmosis Conf, pp 183-190, 1968.
- 63. Potgieter FT, Sutherland B, Biggs HC: Attempts to transmit <u>Anaplas-</u> <u>ma marginale</u> with <u>Hippobosca rufipes</u> and <u>Stomoxys</u> <u>calcitrans</u>. Onderstepoort J Vet Res 48:119-122, 1981.
- 64. Howell DE, Stiles GW, Moe LH: The transmission of anaplasmosis by mosquitoes (Culicidae). JAVMA 99:107-110, 1941.
- 65. Howell DE: Transmission of anaplasmosis by arthropods, in <u>Proceed-ings</u>, 3rd Natl Anaplasmosis Conf, pp 14-16, 1957.

- 66. Ewing SA: Transmission of <u>Anaplasma</u> <u>marginale</u> by arthropods, in <u>Pro-</u> ceedings, 7th Natl Anaplasmosis Conf, pp 395-423, 1981.
- 67. Howarth JA, Hokama Y: Tick transmission of anaplasmosis under laboratory conditions, in <u>Proceedings</u>, 6th Natl Anaplasmosis Conf, pp 117-120, 1973.
- 68. Sanborn CE, Stiles GW, Moe LH: Anaplasmosis transmission by naturally infected <u>Dermacentor andersoni</u> male and female ticks. <u>N Am</u> <u>Vet</u> 19:31-33, 1938.
- 69. Anthony DW, Roby TO: The experimental transmission of bovine anaplasmosis by 3 species of North American ticks. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 27:191-198, 1966.
- 70. Anthony DW: Dermacentor andersoni Stiles as a vector of bovine anaplasmosis, in Proceedings, 5th Natl Anaplasmosis Conf, pp 167-173, 1968.
- 71. Boynton WH, Herms WB, Howell DE, Woods GM: Anaplasmosis transmission by three species of ticks in California. <u>JAVMA</u> 88:500-502, 1936.
- 72. Christensen JF, Howarth JA: Anaplasmosis transmission by <u>Dermacen-</u> tor occidentalis taken from cattle in Santa Barbara County, California. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 27:1473-1475, 1966.
- 73. Peterson KJ, Raleigh RJ, Stroud RK, Goulding RL: Bovine anaplasmosis transmission studies conducted under controlled natural exposure in a <u>Dermacentor andersoni</u> = (venustus) indigenous area of eastern Oregon. Am J Vet Res 38:351-354, 1977.
- 74. Osebold JW, Douglas JR, Christensen JF: Transmission of anaplasmosis to cattle by ticks obtained from deer. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 23: 21-23, 1962.
- 75. Stiller D, Leatch G, Kuttler K: Experimental transmission of bovine anaplasmosis by the winter tick, <u>Dermacentor albipictus</u> (Packard), in <u>Proceedings</u>, 7th Natl Anaplasmosis Conf, pp 463-475, 1981.
- 76. Leatch G: Preliminary studies on the transmission of <u>Anaplasma</u> <u>mar</u>ginale by Boophilus microplus. Aust Vet J 49:16-19, 1973.
- 77. Bram RA: Transstadial (nymph-to-adult) infection of <u>Anaplasma mar-</u> ginale in <u>Dermacentor andersoni</u> Stiles. J <u>Med</u> Ent 8:519-521, 1971.
- 78. Kocan KM, Teel KD, Hair JA: Demonstration of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> Theiler in ticks by tick transmission, animal inoculation, and fluorescent antibody studies. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 41:183-186, 1980.

- 79. Kocan KM, Hair JA, Ewing SA, Stratton LG: Transmission of <u>Anaplasma</u> <u>marginale</u> Theiler by <u>Dermacentor</u> andersoni Stiles and <u>Dermacen-</u> tor variabilis (Say). Am J Vet Res 42:15-18, 1981.
- 80. Howell DE, Stiles GW, Moe LH: The hereditary transmission of anaplasmosis by <u>Dermacentor andersoni</u> Stiles. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 2: 165-166, 1941.
- 81. Kocan KM, Barron SJ, Holbert D, Ewing SA: Influence of increased temperature on <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> Theiler in the gut of <u>Der-</u><u>macentor andersoni</u> Stiles. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 43:32-35, 1982.
- 82. Kocan KM, Holbert D, Ewing SA, Hair JA, Barron SJ: Influence of parasitemia level at feeding on development of <u>Anaplasma mar-</u><u>ginale</u> Theiler in <u>Dermacentor</u> <u>andersoni</u> Stiles. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 44:554-557, 1983.
- Anthony DW, Madden PA, Gates DW: <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> Theiler observed in the gut and excreta of <u>Dermacentor andersoni</u> Stiles (<u>Dermacentor venustus Marx</u>). <u>Am J Vet Res 25:1464-1471, 1964</u>.
- 84. Friedhoff KT, Ristic M: Anaplasmosis XIX. A preliminary study of Anaplasma marginale in Dermacentor andersoni (Stiles) by fluorescent antibody technique. Am J Vet Res 27:643-646, 1966.
- 35. Bram RA, Romanowski RD: Recognition of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> Theiler in <u>Dermacentor</u> andersoni Stiles (= <u>D. venustus</u> Marx) by the fluorescent antibody method. I. Smears of nymphal organs. J Para 56:32-38, 1970.
- 86. Kocan KM, Oberst RD, Ewing SA, Hair JA, Barron SJ: Demonstration of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> in hemolymph of <u>Dermacentor andersoni</u> by animal inoculation and by fluorescent-antibody technique. Am J Vet Res 44:798-801, 1983.
- 87. Oberst RD, Kocan KM, Hair JA, Ewing SA: Staining characteristics of colonies of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> Theiler in <u>Dermacentor</u> andersoni Stiles. Am J Vet Res 42:2006-2009, 1981.
- 88. Staats JJ, Kocan KM, Hair JA, Ewing SA: Immunocytochemical labeling of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> Theiler in <u>Dermacentor</u> <u>andersoni</u> Stiles with peroxidase-antiperoxidase technique. <u>Am J Vet</u> Res 43:979-983, 1982.
- 89. Kocan KM, Hsu KC, Hair JA, Ewing SA: Demonstration of <u>Anaplasma</u> <u>marginale</u> Theiler in <u>Dermacentor</u> variabilis (Say) by ferritin-conjugated antibody technique. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 41:1977-1981, 1980.
- 90. Kocan KM, Hair JA, Ewing SA: Ultrastructure of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> Theiler in <u>Dermacentor</u> andersoni Stiles and <u>Dermacentor</u> variabilis (Say). Am J Vet Res 41:1966-1976, 1980.

- 91. Kocan KM, Ewing SA, Holbert D, Hair JA: Morphologic characteristics of colonies of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> Theiler in midgut epithelial cells of <u>Dermacentor andersoni</u> Stiles. <u>Am J Vet Res</u> 43:586-593, 1982.
- 92. Kocan KM, Holbert D, Ewing SA, Hair JA, Barron SJ: Development of colonies of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> in the gut of incubated <u>Derma</u>centor andersoni. Am J Vet Res 44:1617-1620, 1983.
- 93. Potgieter FT, Kocan KM, McNew RW, Ewing SA: Demonstration of colonies of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> in the midgut of <u>Rhipicephalus</u> simus. Am J Vet Res 44:2256-2261, 1983.
- 94. Storz J, Spears P: Chlamydiales: properties, cycle of development and effect on eukaryotic host cells. <u>Curr Top Microbiol Immun-</u><u>ol</u> 77:167-214, 1977.
- 95. Patrick CD, Hair JA: Laboratory rearing procedures and equipment for multi-host ticks (Acarina: Ixodidae). J Med Ent 12:389-390, 1975.
- 96. Richardson KC, Jarett L, Finke EH: Embedding in epoxy resins for ultrathin sectioning in electron microscopy. <u>Stain Technol</u> 35:313-323, 1960.
- 97. Venable JH, Coggeshal R: A simplified lead citrate stain for use in electron microscopy. J Cell Biol 25:407-408, 1965.
- 98. Tanami Y, Yamada Y: Miniature cell formation in <u>Chlamydia psittaci</u>. J Bacteriol 114:408-412, 1973.
- 99. Spears P, Storz J: Changes in the ultrastructure of <u>Chlamydia psit-</u> <u>taci</u> produced by treatment of the host cell with DEAE-dextran and cycloheximide. J Ultrastruct Res 67:152-160, 1979.
- 100. Kocan KM, Ewing SA, Hair JA, Barron SJ: Demonstration of the inclusion appendage of <u>Anaplasma marginale</u> in nymphal <u>Dermacentor</u> andersoni. Am J Vet Res 45:1800-1807, 1984.

νιτα

Theodora Neil Yellin

Candidate for the Degree of

Master of Science

Thesis: STUDIES OF ANAPLASMA MARGINALE THEILER IN NYMPHAL DERMACENTOR ANDERSONI STILES

Major Field: Veterinary Parasitology and Public Health

Biographical:

- Personal Data: Born in Chicago, Illinois, April 6, 1948, the daughter of Dr. and Mrs. Hilger P. Jenkins. Married to David Yellin on June 6, 1970.
- Education: Graduated from the University of Chicago High School, Chicago, Illinois, in May, 1965; received the Bachelor of Arts degree in Biology from Wilson College, Chambersburg, Pennsylvania, in May, 1969; completed requirements for the Master of Science degree at Oklahoma State University in May, 1986.
- Professional Experience: Research Assistant, Department of Veterinary Research, Oklahoma State University, 1981-1983; Research Technician, Department of Entomology, Oklahoma State University, 1983 to present.
- Professional Associations: Oklahoma Academy of Science, Oklahoma Society for Electron Microscopy.